

Contents

Executive summary	3
Introduction	6
Research aims and approach	7
Impact of, and lessons from, recent economic crises	9
Impacts of the cost of living crisis on low income households	14
Mental wellbeing	15
Financial pressures	18
Food insecurity	20
Energy	22
Housing	24
Interactions with the other drivers of child poverty	26
Income from Employment	27
Income from Social Security (or benefits in-kind)	30
Impacts on priority family types	32
Larger families (with three or more children)	33
Lone parents	35
Minority ethnic households	37
Households with a disabled adult or child	39
Households with a child under one year old	41
Mothers under 25 years old	43
Considerations for policy makers	45
Current cost of living support package	46
Balancing the right approach to support	48
Conclusions	51
Annex A: Methodology	52
How to access background or source data	
Sources	55

Executive summary

The "cost of living crisis" refers to the ongoing economic pressures facing households who are seeing the cost of everyday essentials, like food and energy, increase at a faster pace than household incomes. This has the greatest impact on low income households who spend a greater proportion of their income on household essentials and who have the fewest financial resources at their disposal to assist with increased costs.

This report summarises academic and grey literature on the cost of living crisis to better understand the challenges low income households are facing and how they may be best supported.

Evidence was gathered from a wide range of sources – with a particular interest in what works to support low income households during recent crises (i.e. 2008 financial crisis, the COVID-19 pandemic). The search included coping strategies alongside experiences of support, with a particular focus on the impact of crises on families living in poverty.

What is helping to support families during the cost of living crisis?

Fast, easy and direct support to families has been the most valuable during the recent cost of living crisis. Both stakeholders and families acknowledge that the wide policy package of support has been indispensable, both in terms of supporting low income families through the cost of living crisis and in reducing (or minimising increases to) child poverty rates.

Additionally, evidence from stakeholders and families shows that direct financial support is highly impactful and particularly welcomed by families. Positive impacts were seen from the Discretionary Housing Payments and the crisis support provided through the Scottish Welfare Fund. While there has not been sufficient time to assess the impact of increases to the Scottish Child Payment on poverty rates, it is anticipated that it will make a significant difference to reducing poverty in Scotland. Additionally, the rent freeze, and subsequent rent cap, have been welcomed by tenants' organisations during this period of economic uncertainty.

What barriers prevent families from receiving support in the crisis?

There are significant barriers which prevent families from being fully supported during the cost of living crisis. These include:

- The cumulative and compounding impact of the past 15 years. From the 2008 financial crisis, to a decade of austerity measures, to the COVID-19 pandemic, families on low incomes have been living under a constant financial strain. This means they entered the cost of living crisis in a highly vulnerable position, with very limited or no options left to further reduce their household costs.
- **Stigma**. The evidence base highlights stigma as being a key barrier for families to access support. This can be due to feelings of inadequacy, guilt, shame, and perceived judgement.

- Means-tested targeting. While the evidence suggests targeting can help those most in need, sometimes these measures do not go far enough or are targeted too narrowly.
 Support packages which rely on families being on means-tested benefits can exclude many low income households.
- Variation in need and demand. 'One size fits all' payments do not account for the
 nuances of household size and other dynamics. The evidence highlights that particular
 family groups are at risk due to payments which do not account for additional
 circumstances (e.g. lone parents, families with three or more children, mothers under 25
 or families with a disabled person).

Most stakeholders agree on key actions Scottish Government and partners could take:

- Continue to pioneer a cultural change. To increase resilience in the face of rising prices, there is a need to remove stigma surrounding social security payments. This involves providing accessible and supportive gateways to support.
- Encouraging take-up of gateway benefits. There are some benefits that allow receipt
 of other benefits. Universal Credit, for example, provides a gateway to many other
 means-tested benefits, including cost of living payments, but also other entitlements,
 such as free school meals. Increasing take-up of these gateway benefits is key to
 reducing the burden of household costs.
- Consideration of benefit design for eligible families. While targeted measures are
 welcomed, these need to respond to the needs of families. There is variability in need
 amongst households, for example when considering the health of family members, the
 size of the household or the ethnic background. The eligibility criteria needs to carefully
 consider how to best meet the needs of the target population.

Where do families need more support?

Some areas where Scottish Government could provide further support are:

- Accessibility of information. The cost of living website has been a welcome source of information. However, stakeholders point out that further consideration is needed to support those at risk of digital exclusion or with limited digital skills. This includes those in rural areas where digital connectivity may be slow and unreliable and accessing alternative face-to-face support prohibitive (due to cost and/or distance).
- **Planning ahead**. While inflation is reducing, prices are not going down and remain historically high, particularly for food. Stakeholders call for targeted measures to support low income households for the remainder of 2023 so that families are able to anticipate and plan ahead.
- Tailor labour market policies to support specific family circumstances. Many
 priority families face structural challenges. This means that their opportunities to
 increase income through paid work, even when the economy is better, can be
 limited. This, in turn, places a financial strain on the household. For example, for
 minority ethnic families this would mean navigating the impacts of structural racism
 in the labour market.

What impact does the cost of living crisis have on wellbeing, social/familial stability and financial stability for a family in a low income household?

The cost of living crisis is significantly impacting upon the mental health of both parents and children.

Additionally, the cost of living crisis has resulted in a lack of social connection, and increased isolation, for many households. This is on the back of a period of intensive isolation arising from periods when stay at home regulations were in place during the COVID-19 pandemic. The negative impacts of a lack of social interaction on loneliness and mental wellbeing are well documented . Priority groups particularly at risk of financial stress, leading to lower levels of mental wellbeing, include those living in larger families, minority ethnic families, and mothers with a young child.

What lessons can we learn which help us to tackle child poverty in the long term?

While the cost of living crisis is anticipated to be a short-lived event, it emphasizes a need for structural change. For child poverty, this crisis reminds policy makers and wider stakeholders that a long-term approach is necessary.

While support is required in the short-term to meet financial demands of the crisis, longer-term changes are necessary to ensure families do not continue to fall into, or deeper into, poverty. This includes work around:

- affordable and flexible early years and school age childcare
- digital accessibility
- secure, flexible and family friendly employment
- a minimum income guarantee
- an accessible and supportive social security system
- appropriate mental health support for adults and children
- joined-up and person-centred services.

Introduction

The 'cost of living crisis' is the widespread term used since early 2022 to refer to the ongoing economic pressure for families who are seeing the cost of everyday essentials, like food and energy, increase at a much faster pace than household incomes.

The cost of living crisis is having the greatest impact on low income households who spend a greater proportion of their income on essentials and who have the fewest financial resources at their disposal to help cope with increased costs.¹

The sudden and rapid rise in costs of energy and food has meant that people on low incomes have simply been unable to afford an adequate standard of living. Lower income households are more likely to have no, or low, savings, more likely to be in debt or arrears and, if in employment, more likely to be in insecure work entailing variable pay.² Further, while inflation has fallen from its highest level in October 2022, it remains high³ and the inflation rate for food and non-alcohol beverages continues to rise – reaching 19.1% in April 2023 (an increase from 16.4% in October 2022).⁴

This report examines how the crisis has exposed financial vulnerabilities, reviews the specific impacts for different family types and considers how households are reacting to their current straitened circumstances. By focusing on a period of heightened financial strain, this report, by way of critical review of the evidence, provides important insights into which challenges are the greatest for households and how families may best be supported.

Structure of this report

Firstly, this report looks at <u>lessons learned from recent economic crises</u>, that is the 2008 financial crisis and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Lessons learned were drawn to support our understanding of impactful policy making during the current cost of living crisis.

This reports follows with <u>detailed impacts of the ongoing cost of living crisis</u>. In particular it explores impacts on wellbeing, financial pressures, food insecurity, energy and housing.

While the ongoing crisis is focused around the cost of living, this report also explores impacts of price increases on the two other drivers of poverty, that is income from employment and income from social security.

Then, the report provides a brief summary of how the cost of living crisis is impacting on each of the <u>six priority family types</u> most at risk of poverty.

Finally, the report explores generic issues to consider when <u>designing policies to</u> <u>support families in need</u>. Specifically, it focuses on debates concerning targeted or universal interventions, the stigma surrounding access to interventions, and the need for longer-term systemic change.

Research aims and approach

Research aims

The aim of this research is to synthetise the wide range of evidence available on the impact of the ongoing cost of living crisis for families in low incomes and identify key learnings to support future policy decisions on tackling child poverty.

The research seeks to answer the following questions:

- What is helping to support families during the cost of living crisis?
- What barriers prevent families from being best supported during the cost of living crisis?
- Where do families need more support?
- Are there specific households who require further/greater support?
- What impact does the cost of living have on wellbeing, social/familial stability and financial stability for a family in a low income household?
- What lessons can we learn which may help us to tackle child poverty in the long term?

Methodology

This report presents a review of empirical evidence on how the current cost of living crisis is impacting those families in low income households. The search of evidence covered a wide range of sources, including: Idox and KandE databases. In addition to research undertaken by the Scottish Government, stakeholder websites were also identified and searched for relevant empirical evidence to include in the review. Finally, Research Advisory Group (RAG) members, consisting of Scottish Government and external stakeholders, provided potential evidence which was reviewed to identify any additional or missing evidence sources.

The library search was carried out to gather evidence on a variety of areas that covered the research questions. This included:

- Coping strategies and new challenges faced by families for raising income for their family (through employment or by social security)
- Experiences of support provided by government, local authorities, third sector organisations and the wider community

In addition, to gather learnings regarding best practice and effective approaches to support low income households/families during a crisis, the search included key event terms of 'financial crisis', 'austerity', 'COVID-19', alongside 'cost of living crisis'. For searches on financial crisis and austerity, this was dated back to 2008 while all other key events were dated from 2020 onwards.

Peer-reviewed and non-peer-reviewed evidence was included in the search. The primary focus of the review was on evidence from Scotland and the United Kingdom but international evidence was also included where relevant.

In order to focus on the impact of the cost of living for families living in low income households, the primary focus for inclusion in the review was on evidence from

empirical research exploring the impact of the crisis on families and for those living in poverty.

Further details on the methodology can be found in Annex A.

Limitations

This was a rapid evidence review conducted in a short timeframe. This was not a systematic review and appraisal of the research evidence.

This work reports on an on-going crisis where new evidence and insights are emerging regularly.

Due to the relatively new nature of the evidence base, the primary sources of evidence are drawn from stakeholders undertaking their own primary research or secondary data analysis. This evidence is pertinent for understanding the experiences of particular stakeholder groups. However, this means that the number of peer reviewed articles drawn upon in this report is limited.

Care has been taken to assess the robustness of each piece of evidence included, and to provide a full understanding of the impact of the cost of living crisis for families living in poverty, but it cannot be interpreted as a full and comprehensive review of all relevant and available data.

Impact of, and lessons from, recent economic crises

Key Messages

The austerity welfare reforms have shrunk the safety net available to those requiring support from the state. Austerity measures worsened standards of living, particularly for those in low income households.

Throughout the various economic crises, in-work poverty has risen and employment has increasingly proven not to be a reliable route out of poverty.

Temporary support packages introduced during the pandemic, such as the Job Retention Scheme (Furlough) and the £20 Universal Credit uplift, prevented widespread hardship. Policy packages that respond to specific crises and circumstances do work.

The ongoing cost of living crisis arose through a range of different significant events, including: the COVID-19 pandemic, the war in Ukraine and Brexit.

This section of the report looks at the policies put in place to overcome recent economic crises and summarises evidence of impact on societal standards. Specifically, the report covers the 2008 financial crisis and the global COVID-19 pandemic.

The aim of this chapter is twofold. First, to uncover learnings around what works and what does not for families living in low income households that are of relevance to the current crisis. Second, this section also provides an understanding of the starting position of families in low income households at the outset of the cost of living crisis.

Context

The current cost of living crisis is the latest development in a period of economic instability and underperformance for the UK stretching back well over a decade to the 2008 financial crisis.

In response to the 2008 market crash, and the subsequent recession, the Coalition and Conservative governments, from 2010 onwards, pursued a policy programme of austerity measures. Austerity measures meant spending cuts to social security and public services.

The year 2020 saw the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. This marked a definitive shift away from austerity as whole sectors of the economy shut down and government spending dramatically increased to support business and families and minimise adverse impacts of the pandemic. National lockdown measures (periods when stay at home regulations were in place) had barely ended when inflation began to increase sharply in late 2021, with the Consumer Price Index rising to 11.1% (annual rate) by October 2022. At the time of writing this report, inflation is at 8.7%,⁵ though the OBR forecasts it will fall to 2.9% by the end of 2023.⁶

A summary of policy actions during recent crises with a review of evidence on impact follows.

Austerity policies following the 2008 financial crisis

From 2010, the UK coalition Government adopted a deficit reduction policy. This aimed to offset increases in government spending which had been implemented in response to the 2008 financial crisis by the previous Labour administration.⁷

The main agenda was to reduce spend at all levels. This is what was referred to as 'austerity measures'. These included a number of welfare reforms, the overall effect of which was to limit the amount of support available to families through benefits and tax credits. Indeed, analysis using the House of Commons Library Welfare Expenditure and Savings Tool highlights how in 2016-2017 the Government was due to save approximately £26 billion from cuts to welfare spending.⁸

Key changes since 2010 include:

- A benefit cap restricting the maximum amount of support a family could receive. In 2013, this measure introduced a cap at £500 per week for a family and £350 per week for a single person with no children.⁹
- A freeze in the rate of most working-age benefits. For a four year period (2015/16-2019/20) the majority of working-age benefits were kept at their 2015-16 cash value. This followed a previous three year period (2013/14-2015/16) where increases were limited to 1% per annum. This means benefits did not keep up with the rate of inflation. Benefits and tax credits were 6% lower in 2020-2021 than if the CPI rate had been applied during the four years of the freeze.¹⁰
- A two-child limit for child tax credit and Universal Credit (UC). From April 2017, means-tested family benefits were restricted to two children. This meant child tax credits were not payable for third or subsequent children born after 6 April 2017.¹¹
- The abolition of the 'family element' of Working Tax Credit (WTC) and equivalent in UC. This measure, introduced in April 2012, meant couples with children were required to work at least 24 hours per week to qualify for WTC. Prior to this, the minimum hours per week for qualification was 16 hours. 12,13
- In addition, cuts to local authority budgets meant that some frontline services either closed, or were under-resourced and less able to meet demand.

In Scotland, compared to England, cuts to public services were less severe. The Scottish Government maintained the aim of reducing inequalities, basing policy and wider decisions on four pillars: prevention, partnership, people, and performance. ¹⁴ For example, the impact of 'the removal of the Spare Room Subsidy', commonly known as the 'bedroom tax', ¹⁵ has been offset by the Scottish Government's Discretionary Housing Payments. ¹⁶ The Scottish Government also aimed to buffer local authorities from the full extent of the cuts to funding. ¹⁷ However, local authority spending still reduced in Scotland in real terms by 11% between 2010-2011 and 2014-2015. In comparison, spending in England during this same time period fell by 27%. ¹⁸

What was the impact of austerity on low income families?

A wide range of evidence has shown the negative impact of austerity measures on living standards. A number of trends, coinciding with the period of austerity, indicate a worsening of people's financial circumstances. Since around 2010, child poverty rates have been generally stable. However, there has been an increase in the depth of poverty experienced and the incidence of poverty in working households remains a growing issue. Data from the Trussell Trust records an increased demand since 2011 for food banks across the whole UK, including parcels distributed to children. In Scotland, applications to the Scottish Welfare Fund 'crisis grants' have risen steadily since 2013, with the most commonly reported reason being running out of money or benefits.

Furthermore, in 2019, the UN's special rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights published a report which criticised the government's policies for entrenching poverty in the UK.²⁴ The report concluded that the UK government's welfare reforms "have made it much harder for people to make ends meet and stymied progress in reducing poverty." The report also concluded that employment, alone, was not sufficient in lifting people out of poverty, citing the persistence of poverty despite a high rate of employment. The report states that, across the UK, a reduction in in-work benefits and rising housing costs have contributed to the higher rate of in-work poverty.

Analysis by the Equality and Human Rights Commission²⁵ shows that the cumulative effect of welfare and tax reforms from 2010 to 2018 have had the greatest impact on the poorest households. It estimates that people in the lowest two income deciles will have lost around 10% of their net income, with comparatively small losses for those with higher incomes.

Lessons learned

There were some key learnings across the evidence concerning the impact of austerity, particularly on low income households:

- Austerity policies did not protect from, and even contributed to, the rise in public sector unemployment and poor pay from the economic recession. This has been linked to poorer health and mental wellbeing outcomes.²⁶
- Reductions in incomes due to austerity measures, coinciding with rising food prices, led to income insufficiency and there is a clear relationship between austerity welfare reform and food insecurity.²⁷
- Austerity measures impacted most those already vulnerable (e.g. those living on the lowest incomes, in precarious employment, or with health conditions), and widened inequality. Evidence highlighted the need for a strong and robust welfare system to protect families living in these circumstances.^{26,28,29}
- Austerity measures eroded attempts to reduce child poverty.³⁰

COVID-19 pandemic

Following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, the UK observed three periods of lockdown (periods when stay at home regulations were in place) and other varying restrictions which limited social and economic activity. With the exception of key workers, that is those providing essential services for the functioning of society, ³¹ people were asked to work from home and many non-essential services were shut down. The health crisis and the lockdown policies in response moved the economy into a recession.

In response, the UK and Scottish Governments developed packages of social and economic support. In March 2020, the UK Government announced the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme, also known as the Furlough Scheme, in order to limit expected rises in unemployment. It encouraged businesses to retain employees through government subsidising wages of staff unable to work as many hours as pre-pandemic or at all. Furlough officially closed at the end of September 2021.³² Another policy was the £20-a-week uplift to Universal Credit, which was also withdrawn in the Autumn of 2021.

What are the known impacts of the pandemic so far on low income families?

The pandemic had a profound impact on society as a whole. However, there are certain groups within society who have borne the brunt of the impact.

Mixing with other people was heavily restricted and most people were stopped from working for at least some of this period. School closures meant that childcare responsibilities increased for parents who were also expected to provide 'homelearning' support. Evidence indicates that the mental health impacts of the pandemic were particularly acute for families with dependent children. Disrupted routines, changed roles and responsibilities, and reduced support from friends and family contributed to stress and exhaustion.³³

Families on lower incomes spend a greater proportion of that income on essentials such as food and fuel. Long periods at home meant the costs of heating the home, running appliances and providing food for household members increased.³⁴ These additional costs were felt most acutely for people already operating on tight household budgets.

The isolation and stress of being locked down may also have been exacerbated by the living conditions of those on lower incomes, who are likelier to live in crowded accommodation, poor housing conditions, or have no access to outdoor space.³⁴

COVID restrictions also meant that a significant proportion of the economy was also, effectively, locked down, with many people being furloughed, experiencing losses in their working hours, or losing their jobs altogether. Analysis shows that lower-paid workers, as well as those in non-standard work arrangements, were disproportionately affected by these developments, and likelier to lose out on earnings. Although the job retention scheme prevented large scale job losses, government support only covered 80% of pay (initially). So, the reduction in income will have been felt most keenly by those on lower wages. People on temporary contracts or doing agency work were much more likely to lose their job altogether, while people who had lost a job just before the pandemic struggled to find re-employment. Certain sectors of the economy

were more vulnerable, particularly those involving jobs that could not be undertaken remotely. This generally affected lower-paid industries such as retail and hospitality.³⁷

Lessons learned

Evidence is constantly evolving, however, from the evidence reviewed, there are some learnings worth highlighting.

Government support was necessary and helpful. Job losses and reduced earnings increased the poverty risk for people living in working households prior to the pandemic. Despite reducing incomes, the Government's Furlough Scheme was viewed positively^{38,39} and protected millions of jobs – with an estimated 87% of furloughed workers able to return to work when the scheme ended.⁴⁰

Social security was fundamental for minimising poverty. Some evidence indicates that increased social security spending may have, in the short-term at least, lifted some non-working households out of poverty, whilst the temporary uplift (since removed) to UC protected others from falling into poverty.³⁴ Further, COVID-related payments also played an important role in helping households to manage with the challenges of the pandemic.³⁸

Local emergency response efforts have been recognised as particularly effective during the pandemic, with cross sector partnerships forming to fund and provide emergency interventions. Some organisational staff involved in front-line delivery reported that, in response to the unprecedented crisis, there was more flexibility in the approaches of statutory bodies and service organisations. There was, however, a feeling that these ways of working were receding as restrictions lifted.⁴¹ Scottish Government research evaluating COVID support in low income households found schools, nurseries and food banks were often gateways to provision of support and advice in relation to financial concerns.³⁸

Impact on wellbeing has been acute. Further, it is well-established the negative impact COVID-19 has had on mental health and well-being – both directly and indirectly⁴² – with those in lower income households often reporting lower levels of mental wellbeing during the pandemic.⁴³

Conclusion

The experiences of the 2008 financial crisis and austerity response and the COVID-19 pandemic provide useful insights to understanding today's crisis.

Crucially, economic disruption tends to hurt those on the lowest incomes most. This goes beyond losses in income, and can carry over into mental wellbeing, health, and other outcomes with long-term consequences. Fast and significant policy responses can help respond to the economic shock and partially shield those most vulnerable.

But these crises do not only offer useful lessons, their influence continues to be felt today and is relevant context to the development and impact of the cost of living crisis.

It is important to consider the compounding nature of crises when we focus on the impacts of the past 15 years and how this plays out during the current crisis.

Impacts of the cost of living crisis on low income households

Key messages

For those living in low income households, and experiencing socio-economic disadvantage, the cost of living crisis has compounded their existing disadvantage. It has placed them at greater risk of poverty or pushed them deeper into poverty.

Low income households have very limited, if any, additional options to manage the ongoing cost of living crisis.

Early evidence suggests a significant impact on the mental wellbeing and health of adults and children living in low income households. While social relations and connections can provide support and assistance, this is not available to all.

Parents are struggling with acute financial pressures.

- **Food insecurity** rates are unacceptably high as inflation leads to rising food costs. There is evidence to suggest that increases to the Scottish Child Payment could have contributed to less severe food insecurity in Scotland compared to the UK.
- While fuel insecurity was a concern prior to this financial crisis, the current context
 has added more complexity, instability and deepening of poverty for those in lower
 income households. Despite a wide range of Government support around energy
 costs, projected fuel insecurity remains high.
- **Housing costs** are deemed to be one of the inflexible costs a household faces, with very little room for savings. The share of households experiencing a large rise in their mortgage costs will increase significantly as the cost of living crisis, and accompanying higher interest rates, persist.

Low income families went into the current cost of living crisis more vulnerable and in precarious positions to manage costs of living such as, food, heating and housing. ⁴⁴ These households often moved into the current crisis with an accumulation of financial distress ⁴⁵ and debt built up through the preceding years. ¹ For those already living in lower income households, and experiencing socio-economic disadvantage, the cost of living crisis is disproportionately affecting them while putting them at risk of poverty or being pushed deeper into poverty. ⁴⁶

This chapter of the report explores how the cost of living crisis impacts upon families living on a low income. It considers the new challenges raised by the cost of living crisis, as well as the exacerbation of existing challenges as a result of rising inflation and higher costs. Specifically it looks at impacts on wellbeing, financial pressures, food insecurity, energy and housing.

Mental wellbeing

This section reports on the impact of the cost of living crisis on the mental wellbeing of families in low income households. It considers the growing sense of helplessness, the difficult decisions made by parents to protect their dependents (at the detriment of their own mental wellbeing) and the effects living in poverty can have for both parents and children.

A mental health crisis

There is evidence to suggest that the ongoing cost of living crisis is impacting on adults' and children's wellbeing.

A Scottish Government poll in May 2023 found that 49% of adults felt the cost of living crisis had negatively impacted upon their mental health. Further, for those adults who felt they were managing their household finances 'less well', the proportion whose mental health has been impacted negatively was just over three-quarters (76%) – compared to 54% for those 'getting by okay' and 24% for those 'managing well'.⁴⁷

It is not only adults struggling with their health and wellbeing. An online survey conducted by Save the Children and YouGov found a quarter of parents (24%) are concerned about their child's mental health as a result of the cost of living crisis, with this increasing to just over a third (36%) of parents who live in households with an income of £30,000 or less. A recent survey of 500 paediatricians working in the UK found three in five (60%) believed the cost of living crisis was having a negative impact on the health and wellbeing of children and young people. Indeed, a survey of 1,012 young people (aged 16-25 years) on behalf of UK Youth, by Censuswide, found more than half of young people (54%) felt their mental health had been negatively affected by the cost of living crisis. This included over a third (36%) saying they felt lonelier due to reducing their social activities in order to reduce their spending. While a survey of 1,045 young people (aged 11-25 years), by Young Scot, found seven in ten young people (70.4%) were concerned about their parents or carers in relation to the cost of living crisis. Further, half of the survey respondents (50.2%) self-reported a concern about their mental health and wellbeing due to the cost of living crisis.

Additionally, a review conducted by the Nuffield Foundation highlights the detrimental impact of poverty if it is persistent and experienced in the first three years of a child's life. In particular, it can impact upon parent-child relations, child development and wellbeing, and limit later life opportunities.⁵¹ This is important to bear in mind in the context of the past three years where low income families have moved from one crisis - the COVID-19 pandemic, to another - the cost of living crisis, and may have been living under financial strain during these crucial years of a child's life.

Indeed, the Poverty and Inequality Commission, in a September 2022 briefing, acknowledged that the cost of living crisis was becoming a mental health crisis. The cumulative impact of crisis after crisis, 52,45 the inability to buy enough food for their family and pay the necessary bills, alongside growing debt, meant increasing numbers of people were experiencing mental health concerns. These views have been supported by academics who report the links between financial struggles and mental ill-health. Further, previous research has highlighted how financial stress is often found

to be higher in larger families, minority ethnic families, and among those mothers with a young child.⁵⁵

A Scottish Government poll asked around 1,000 adults in Scotland, 'Thinking about the year ahead, which of the following are you most concerned about?'. Levels of concern were high for 'any personal financial / economy concern' (83% for all adults) and for 'any cost of groceries, energy fuel' (60% for all adults). These levels were high regardless of whether there were children in the household (82% and 59%, respectively) or not (84% and 61%, respectively). While concern was found to be slightly lower in May 2023 than it was in September 2022, levels still remain high.⁴⁷

A sense of helplessness

Various stakeholders have engaged with families in poverty to better understand their experiences throughout this ongoing cost of living crisis. The overarching finding across their reports is a sense of helplessness.

A Nuffield funded project, led by a group of academics from across England and Child Poverty Action Group, found that families who are living in poverty, when asked how they feel about the cost of living crisis, felt disbelief, anger, resignation and a sense of fatalism. The cost of living crisis has tested them to the very end of their budgeting resourcefulness and 'there is nothing left to cut back'.⁵⁶ A JRF report highlights the uncertainty of the cost of living crisis for families, giving rise to a sense of helplessness.⁴⁵ Previous research on the additional stressors of living in poverty highlights the impact of budgeting for parents. In particular, the need to effectively manage and plan in order to account for all expenditure. This level of detailed planning, often done to get by and mitigate the effects of poverty for their children, is an additional and time consuming stressor.^{57,58,59}

Difficult decisions for parents

Families reported having shielded children from poverty in the past, but in the current crisis they can no longer do so.^{60,59} This brings not only concern and worry for their present, but also the future with uncertainty surrounding how the cost of living crisis will impact on their family's lives in the longer term.

Research to explore women's experiences of the cost of living crisis, further highlights this worry and anxiety about the future. For women with children, their focus was often on the emotional wellbeing of their children, ahead of their own.⁵⁹

Social relations and isolation

Another feature of the pandemic, which has a knock on effect to the current context, is a lack of social connectedness. The importance of social connections, especially in times of stress, is well-known.⁶¹

During the pandemic, periods when stay at home regulations and social distancing measures were in place, led to limited opportunities for connections and had repercussions for feelings of loneliness, social isolation and mental wellbeing. 59,62,63,64

During the cost of living crisis, there are other restrictions which are impacting on low income households, ⁶⁵ such as transport affordability; ⁶⁶ inability to afford leisure and social activities for parents and their children; ⁵⁹ and the prioritisation of other more essential costs, such as food, housing and energy. ⁶⁷ Further, while many of these challenges pre-exist the cost of living crisis, these are exacerbated by the current cost of living crisis and the tightening of household finances. For those living in low income households, who are struggling to meet essential costs, there can often be a need for support networks during times of stress and worry in order to provide emotional, and sometimes financial, support. ^{59,63} For those families who have strong support networks these were often emphasised as a fundamental source of support in terms of providing basic essentials, financial support and emotional support. Research by the Poverty Alliance highlights that some women acknowledged that they would simply not cope without this level of support. ⁵⁹

Many families are not lucky enough to have a strong support network around them. There are particular priority family groups seen to be at higher risk of social isolation. These include parents with a baby under one, lone parents, and families with three or more children.

- For parents with a baby under one, peer support during this transitional period of life is
 often seen as crucial in developing reassurance, avoidance of doubt and building selfefficacy. Without opportunities, or with limited opportunities, to meet with other parents
 with babies, this can be detrimental to the mental wellbeing of the new parent.⁶³
- For lone parents, opportunities for social connections, for both them and their child, can be limited due to financial concerns, with reported rates of increased social isolation and poorer mental wellbeing for both parent and child.⁶⁸ In a poll conducted by JRF, around three in four lone parents reported the cost of living crisis has had a negative impact on their social life.⁶⁵ Further, in a research study completed by One Parent Families Scotland, a lone parent reported struggling to pay household bills and that there was just no money to spend on recreational, leisure and social activities each month. They reported feels of guilt for not being able to provide for their child.⁶⁸

Family relationships are also put under strain during times of financial hardship, as may be experienced during the cost of living crisis for low income households. ⁶⁹ For example, parents may be less able to respond to the needs of their children, or feel they are less able to do so, and this may impact upon parent-child bonding and attachment. ⁶⁹

Financial pressures

Financial worries are a constant for many parents in Scotland. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) report that parents with dependent children had higher odds of experiencing **financial vulnerability**ⁱ when compared with non-parents or parents not living with dependent children (data from September 2022 to January 2023).⁷⁰ Further, their dataset reveals just over half of parents (54%) living with a dependent child report being **unable to save** in the next 12 month period, compared to four in ten (42%) non-parents or parents not living with a dependent child.⁷⁰

What coping mechanisms are still available to families?

Many stakeholders have engaged with lived-experience experts to understand what sort of coping mechanisms people are already employing: ⁵⁶ opting to buy unhealthier, but cheaper, dietary options; ⁶³ stopping direct debits to their energy company – putting themselves at risk of being cut off; ⁷¹ asking wider family networks for financial support; going without in order to provide for their children; ⁶³ borrowing money (as evidenced above). For some, enduring the cold and hunger was seen as the only remaining option. ⁵⁶ **Multiple reports highlight that households have very limited additional options to manage the ongoing crisis.**

A deepening of poverty can restrict the number, or types, of choices families have at their disposal. A recent report on the everyday experiences of those on low incomes highlights how such 'choices' are often not choices. These are imposed on households by their situation. The decision between heating and eating, for example, can often come down to the practical matter of choosing electricity, as without electricity one cannot cook, anyway. Therefore, such "choices" should be reframed as households are ultimately disempowered. The impacts of this predicament are numerous, and reported in this review, but what is most apparent is the compounding effect the crisis has for physical and mental health. 65,72

This growing precarity and vulnerability can be seen across multiple aspects of society. For example, Scottish Government analysis of the Scottish Welfare Fund highlights the increased demand for crisis grants (a source of financial support to assist with an unexpected emergency⁷³). From February 2023 to March 2023. There has been a 7% increase in the number of crisis grant applications, while crisis grant expenditure over this same period has increased by 6%.⁷⁴ Repeated applications are increasing and demand is expected to continue to rise due to the cost of living crisis.⁷⁵

What are the impacts of constant financial pressures?

Some estimates have already been reported on the potential impact of an ongoing crisis on health outcomes. Modelling from Public Health Scotland, based on the relationship between income and mortality, estimates that even after the mitigating effects from the

.

¹ In this dataset, an individual was said to have experienced some form of financial vulnerability if three or more of the following applied to them: unable to afford an unexpected, but necessary, expense of £850; borrowing more money or using more credit than usual, in the last month, compared to a year ago; being unable to save in the next 12 months; finding it very or somewhat difficult to afford energy bills.

Energy Price Guarantee and Cost of Living Support payments, incomes would still fall by 6.5% (least deprived) and 5.3% (most deprived), in real terms. ⁶⁹ This modelling approach then estimates the health impacts from long-term exposure to these income changes by SIMD. If incomes rise above inflation in the future then some of these impacts may be mitigated further.

The impact on mortality rates was estimated to be an increase of 2% (least deprived) and 8% (most deprived), as well as falls in life expectancy between 0.2% (least deprived) and 1.4% (most deprived). ⁶⁹ This also highlights how people's health in the most deprived areas is more sensitive to changes in relative income, seeing substantially larger negative health impacts, despite slightly lower relative income drops than those living in the least deprived areas.

Amongst low-paid workers, three-quarters reported that a pay rise would improve their wellbeing, mental health and financial situation – with increased levels of pay often the most prioritised action that both government and employers could do to assist them through the cost of living crisis.⁷⁶

Food insecurity

Access to affordable food is essential to maintaining a reasonable standard of living. High prevalence of food insecurity indicates that costs are too high, incomes are insufficient or both.

What do we know about levels of food insecurity?

In the period 2019-2022, 8% of Scottish people lived in households with low or very low food security. For children, low or very low food security rises to 13% and to 27% amongst children who live in low income households.¹⁹

These latest statistics may not fully reflect the effects of the cost of living crisis due to the timing of data collection. In order to understand potential direction of travel, we can also examine food bank usage. Recent figures from the Trussell Trust highlight the levels of food bank use between April 2022 and March 2023, with 259,744 emergency food parcels distributed through their network in Scotland during this period, including 87,968 parcels to children. This represents a 30% increase from the same period the previous year (2021-22) and a 50% increase from the same period pre-pandemic (i.e. 2017-18).

The Trussell Trust note, though, that **increasing the value of the Scottish Child Payment, and extending eligibility,** may have contributed to less severe increases in food bank use in Scotland, for some household groups, compared to elsewhere in the UK. They report that, between November 2022 and March 2023, the increase in the number of food parcels provided to children was 17%, compared with 42% for England.⁷⁷

Escalating food prices are contributing to growing levels of food insecurity as inflation remains high.⁷⁸ The annual inflation rate for food and non-alcoholic drinks was reported to be 19.1% in April 2023.⁴ This represents a significant increase in the cost of regular shopping baskets for families. Recent research by Nourish Scotland⁷⁹ drew on lived experience to construct shopping baskets that would adequately meet the needs and preferences of different family types; they calculate that the cost of these baskets, as of December 2022, would account for between 25% and 37% of disposable income. While the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) expect inflation to continue to fall in 2023,⁶ there is expected to be a lag in food price inflation in the short term.⁷⁸

What are the impacts of food insecurity?

The effects of food insecurity are compounding for families. The Poverty Alliance reports some women skipping meals or eating less. In some cases, where there was a reported pre-existing health condition, women were unable to afford shopping to support this condition. Over four in ten (44%) lone parents report difficulties in affording food, with this remaining at a similar rate for lone parent families in paid work (41%). Real landered, paid employment is often not enough to ensure an adequate standard of living for families. Polling completed by the Living Wage Foundation, in January 2022, found that 32% of respondents earning less than the real Living Wage had skipped meals regularly due to financial costs (compared to 27% in December 2020).

For families and children the effects of food insecurity, and not having enough to eat, is profound and has potentially long term impacts. Public Health Scotland (PHS) report the potential damaging effects of inadequate nutrition on the long term health outcomes for children.⁶⁹ The Nuffield Foundation highlight also the mental challenge involved in going without food for parents.⁵⁶ Similarly, The Food Foundation notes how food insecurity can impact upon every aspect of a child's life from their education, social interactions and social-cognitive development to their physical and mental wellbeing. They report that for those parents/carers who had experienced food insecurity in the past month, almost eight in ten were worried about the impact of insufficient food on their child's physical health (78%) and mental health (76%).⁸⁰

What can be done?

A study by the University of Sheffield highlights the following priorities to assist in tackling food insecurity:⁸¹

- **Cash-first solutions**. The report argues that this provides households with increased agency and dignity, in comparison to receiving food aid. Further, research in the Scottish context surrounding free school meals advocates for a cash first approach in order to show an extension of trust.⁸²
- Whole system approach. While food insecurity requires assistance in the short-term, there is also a need for longer-term approaches to prevent hardship and support reliable access to food.

Drawing on this learning and following a consultation that received strong public support, the Scottish Government published <u>Cash-First: Towards Ending the Need for Food Banks in Scotland</u> on 5 June 2023. This details the nine targeted actions the Scottish Government will take over the next three years, alongside other public bodies, local services and anti-poverty organisations, to improve the response to crisis and start to reduce the need for emergency food parcels. The learning from these actions will help to identify scalable interventions that move us closer towards our longer-term ambition of a Scotland without the need for food banks. This is a cornerstone of our commitment to tackling poverty, progressing the right to food and achieving our <u>Good Food Nation</u> ambition.

Energy

One of the key drivers of the cost of living crisis has been significant increases to the price of gas and electricity.

What support has been provided?

The UK government response was to introduce the Energy Bills Support Scheme (EBSS) and the Energy Price Guarantee (EPG). The EBSS was a universal policy which provided all households with a non-repayable discount to help with their energy bills over the winter of 2022/2023.⁸³ The EPG was introduced in October 2022 and limits the price households pay per unit of gas and electricity. While the price cap is lower than current prices, energy prices remain substantially higher than pre- 2021. For example, prices from July to September 2023 are estimated to be over 60% higher than during the winter 2021-2022.⁸⁴

What are the impacts for low income households?

Despite the package of support introduced to help households manage rising energy costs, it appears lower income households still struggled with energy insecurity over the winter 2022-2023. Analysis from ONS highlights that energy insecurity was more of a concern for lower income households than higher income households during the winter of 2022.⁸⁵ A quarter (24%) of adults were reporting occasionally, hardly ever or never being able to keep comfortably warm during that past winter.⁸⁶

In Scotland, modelling from the Scottish Government estimated that in April to June 2023, 37% of all households (and 34% of all households with children) would be in fuel poverty.⁸⁷

However, energy insecurity has been a concern prior to the cost of living crisis and the COVID-19 pandemic. Research conducted during the winter 2019/20, exploring the lived experiences of fuel poverty, found that households in the lowest income bands were the most likely to be struggling to keep their home warm – often limiting heating use and adopting coping strategies to stay warm.⁸⁸ This illustrates how the cost of living crisis has added more complexity, instability and the potential for deepening levels of poverty to the lives of those in lower income households.

Varying experiences for families

The way households pay for their energy plays an important role, too, in the affordability of energy. Lower income households are more likely to be on pre-payment meters. 89,38 While these methods are often preferred due to the immediacy and transparency of energy usage within the household,90 they are also more expensive. This results in a 'poverty premium' where lower income households face additional costs compared to those in higher income households.89 A research report from the Poverty Alliance highlights that half of the women in their study were on pre-payment meters. Thus, these participants were affected by the poverty premium and at risk of having no access to energy if they could not afford to top up the meter. 59 Further, ONS analysis reports a

link between adults who use pre-payment meters to pay for their energy with financial insecurity. A quarter of adults (26%) using pre-payment meters reported using credit more than usual (e.g. credit cards, loans) due to increases in the cost of living (compared to 14% for those who pay their energy through a non pre-payment method).⁷⁰ However, in the UK Government Spring Budget there was a commitment to bring energy charges down for households with pre-payment meters (bringing charges in line with prices for direct debit customers).⁹¹

The same challenges, already reported for priority family types, continue to be evident. 92 Particularly for those with a disabled person in the household who may be reliant on gas/electricity to support an individual's condition.

Rural living can also have a significant impact on additional living costs, with homes in rural areas more likely to rely on oil as an energy source. This is non-regulated and therefore can be more costly.⁹³ Research from the Poverty Alliance on women's experiences of the cost of living crisis illustrates the concerns of those living in rural areas, with rising energy costs seen as a daily concern.⁵⁹

Housing

Some households had to make compromises during the cost of living crisis on how much they spent on food or energy. However, reducing housing costs is, in many cases, not an option for families. Being able to afford a home is a current and significant issue for many.¹

Indeed, according to recent YouGov polling for the Scottish Government, in May 2023, ⁱⁱ 11% of respondents across all tenures were concerned about paying their mortgage or rent in the next 2-3 months. This number rose to 21% for those in private renting. Private renters were also more likely to say that they were struggling (a lot / somewhat) to pay for household bills, including energy bills and rent (38% of private renters compared to 24% of all tenures as a whole) and that they were managing less well financially (29% of private renters compared to 22% of all tenures as a whole). There has been no significant improvement in these figures since November 2022.⁴⁷

For owner-occupiers, increases in interest rates to control inflation have led to a significant increase in mortgage costs: for example, the cumulative 4.4 percentage point increase in the Bank of England rate between November 2021 and May 2023 is estimated to have increased the monthly payment on an existing tracker mortgage rate in Scotland by around £250 on average. Although around 87% of outstanding mortgages in the UK are on fixed rates, which meant that these households were not immediately affected by higher mortgage rates, the vast majority of fixes in the UK are of five years or less. Thus, the share of households experiencing a large rise in their mortgage costs will increase significantly as the cost of living crisis, and accompanying higher interest rates, persist.

The impact of the cost of living crisis is of particular concern for renters, since on average they have lower household incomes and higher levels of poverty and so are more vulnerable to economic shocks, than owner occupiers. ⁹⁵ Over the period from 2018-2020, 63% of social rented households and 40% of private rented households did not have enough savings to cover even a month of income at the poverty line, compared to 24% of households buying with a mortgage and 9% of households owning outright. Thus rented sector households entered the cost of living crisis in a more vulnerable position than owner occupiers. ⁹⁶

In recognising the complex situation facing those in rental accommodation, the Scottish Government announced emergency legislation (the Cost of Living (Tenants Protection) (Scotland) Act 2022), in September 2022. This included a temporary freeze on intenancy rent increases (this moved to a rental cap of 3% in April 2023) and a moratorium on the enforcement of rental evictions orders. The initial rental freeze received a mixed response. While it has been welcomed in terms of providing support

ii All figures, unless otherwise stated, are from YouGov Plc. Total sample size was 1005 adults in Scotland. Fieldwork was undertaken between 9th - 11th May 2023. The survey was carried out online. The figures have been weighted and are representative of all adults in Scotland (aged 18+).

iii Scottish Government estimate.

^{iv} The latest economic context to the proposed extension to the emergency legislation as at 1 June 2023 is set out in section 4 of the Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) (Scotland) Act 2022 - 2nd proposed extension: statement of reasons Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) (Scotland) Act 2022 - 2nd proposed extension: statement of reasons - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)

for tenants, it has been viewed by private landlord representative groups as having a detrimental impact for private landlords. However, as reported by Audit Scotland, the provision of affordable housing is fundamental to the prevention of child poverty as housing is one of the most burdensome costs for families. Housing is one of the most burdensome costs for families.

While the legislation has provided protection for existing tenants, some renters entering new tenancies have been faced with substantial increases in market rents, particular in urban areas, with Citylets reporting an increase in new-let rents of 12.4% in Q1 2023.¹⁰¹

Interactions with the other drivers of child poverty

Key messages

- Some households have sought more paid work to mitigate the increasing costs of living. For example, some have increased their hours, while others have obtained an additional job.
- But increasing income through paid work is not a route available to all.
- Overall, wages have failed to keep up with inflation, meaning an overall fall in living standards. Low-paid work is not evenly distributed, but concentrated in particular sectors, such as retail and hospitality and manual labour – which were also hit hardest by pandemic lockdown restrictions.
- As a result of the benefits freeze from 2016 to 2020, the real value (nominal values adjusted by inflation) of UK government administered benefits has declined in recent years. This includes Universal Credit.
- While the benefit freeze was lifted in 2020 to boost support for families during the pandemic, the subsequent cost of living crisis has continued to erode the true value of benefits.
- A range of measures have been adopted in Scotland. Most notably, the increase to the Scottish Child Payment and increased funding for Discretionary Housing Payments. Early evidence suggests that the uplifts and additional support provided by Scottish Government is minimising the negative impacts of the cost of living crisis for families on low incomes.

The Scottish Government approach to tackling child poverty focuses its policies around three main drivers: income from employment, costs of living, and income from social security and benefits in-kind.

This evidence review focuses mainly on the cost of living driver. However, it is well documented that all three drivers are interconnected. For example, the cost of household essentials are only an issue if household incomes are not sufficient to afford them.

It is therefore, necessary to look at the two main ways that families can increase their income, be this through paid work or through increases to social security or benefits in-kind.

Income from Employment

To mitigate the increasing costs of living, some households have sought more paid work to boost their income. Some have increased their hours, others have obtained an additional job.⁶⁵

Increasing income through paid work is not a route available to all. There are a number of constraints on people's ability to increase earnings through paid work, whether they are already in some form of employment, or out of work but looking for a job.

The following sections consider the main constraints that families face when seeking to increase earnings from employment. That is: the amount they are paid, the number of hours they are able to work and the factors affecting one's ability to undertake paid work.

Pay

Overall, wages have failed to keep up with inflation, meaning an overall fall in living standards. The most recent rise to the rate of the National Living Wage (9.7%) remains marginally below the CPI inflation level (10.1%, March 2023) and represents a real terms decrease compared to April 2021. However, since its introduction in 2015 the National Living Wage has increased much faster than prices or average weekly wages up until 2021. The Real Living Wage^v, meanwhile, increased by 10.1% to £10.90 in September 2022. In 2022, 91 per cent of employees in Scotland were paid at least the real living wage, having increased from 80.6 per cent in 2018. Scotland's 3,203 Living Wage employers account for over a quarter of the total 12,500 accredited employers around the UK.

Low-paid work is not evenly distributed, but concentrated in particular sectors, such as retail, hospitality and manual labour. Evidence suggests that the possibilities for progression in these lower-paid occupations are limited in comparison to better paid work. And so there may be fewer opportunities for employees to 'work their way up' to a higher wage. Indeed, research by JRF reports that, during the cost of living crisis, higher earners were much more likely to ask for a promotion or higher pay as ways to increase income. Instead, lower earners were more likely to seek additional hours or apply for new or additional employment.

Nevertheless, as seen in previous chapters, many on the lowest wages had little financial resilience (e.g. debts, fewer savings) going into the crisis. ¹ Furthermore, people in lower-paid sectors are more likely to have experienced pandemic-related job losses and have had to quickly find alternatives to cover rising costs.

_

^v The Real Living Wage (rLW) is set independently – calculated by the Resolution Foundation and overseen by the Living Wage Foundation. The rLW rate is higher than the National Minimum Wage (NMW) and National Living Wage (NLW) as it is aimed at reflecting better the cost of living and meeting everyday needs. The rLW rate is paid on a voluntary basis and employers paying the rLW can become living wage employers through the Real Living Wage accreditation scheme.

Insecure employment

Being in insecure work can lead to **fluctuating** household incomes which can make managing finances difficult. It can also make it harder to get a loan or mortgage which can lead to higher spending. This can result in in-work poverty, and lead to households falling deeper into poverty during the current financial crisis.

Insecure contracts are also generally associated with **lower-paid** work. Research by The Work Foundation has found that those on insecure employment^{vi} contracts are a group most at risk during the cost of living crisis. ¹⁰⁸ Indeed, the Resolution Foundation highlight the growing prevalence of insecure work. ¹⁰⁹ Being employed on an insecure contract is correlated with low-paid work, with 56% of insecure workers across the UK earning less than the Real living wage, and 20% of workers in Scotland experiencing work insecurity. ²

Insecure contracts can sometimes reduce options for increasing work hours. Furthermore, the estimated proportion of people in employment on a zero hours contract in Scotland increased over the year from 2.9% (79,000) in Jan-Mar 2022 to 3.9% (105,000) in Jan-Mar 2023. This compares with an increase from 3.1% to 3.4% across the UK over the same period. Scotland has the second highest proportion of people employed on a zero-hours contract across the countries and regions of the UK, behind Yorkshire and the Humber (4.5 per cent).¹¹⁰

Unpredictable work hours can also **incur additional costs of living**, such as having to arrange transport and/or childcare at short notice and outside of traditional 'office hours'. ² Being in insecure and unpredictable work as costs soar can also have detrimental effects on mental health, with people unable to effectively manage budgets and plan for the future. People are more likely to take on debt to cover short-falls caused by work volatility.¹¹¹

Factors affecting ability to work

There are a range of factors which affect an individual's ability to find employment or increase their hours. Some of the main factors include: childcare, transport and availability of and access to internet.¹¹²

Childcare

_

For households with low incomes, the expense of childcare often undermines opting to work, as take-home pay would barely cover the costs. This is emphasized in lone parent households, or in a large families. Aside from costs, the availability and flexibility of childcare has been signalled as an issue during the cost of living crisis. A lack of flexible provision that accommodates different working patterns is also highlighted as a barrier with parents often concerned about their ability to maintain employment. Further, the cost of living crisis has prompted some new parents to return to work earlier

vi Insecure work does not have a single definition. The Work Foundation, in their research on insecure employments, defines it as forms of work that are precarious, unprotected or low-paid. However, the Resolution Foundation defines as risk of job loss, volatility in hours and pay and not being able to find enough hours.

than they had planned,¹¹⁴ though this is only a viable option if that work can cover childcare costs while still adding to household income. Government funded childcare hours are not available until the age of 3 (or 2 for those on means-tested benefits)¹¹⁵ which limits the options for parents hoping to increase income from employment to mitigate the effects of cost of living the crisis.

Transport

While increases to the costs of transport have slowed more recently, they have been one of the biggest drivers in accounting for the increase in the cost of living. This has mainly been driven by fuel price increases. In June 2022, transport inflation peaked at 15.2%. Transport inflation currently sits at 1.6%. However, data from May 2023 reports that two in five adults (38%) identified increased fuel costs as a factor in increased costs of living.¹¹⁶

Internet

While the majority of households have internet access, the rate of access decreases with income. Moreover, the ways in which people access and use digital technology may be limited by income. Research for Connecting Scotland (a Scottish Government digital inclusion programme) found that even where users had some form of internet access, they were limited by, for example, using out-dated or damaged devices because they could not afford suitable equipment. In rural areas of Scotland, digital connection can be slower and more unreliable — with families often more dependent on the internet due to a lack of face-to-face services. In This makes some activities, such as editing CVs and submitting online application forms, considerably more difficult. Additionally, people on low incomes are more likely to cut back spending on digital access; surveys by both Ofcom and the Digital Poverty Alliance have found around a third of people struggling to afford, or cutting back on, their digital access.

Income from Social Security (or benefits in-kind)

This section outlines the main challenges families face when aiming to boost their income through social security or benefits in-kind.

Real-terms benefit impacts

As a result of the benefits freeze from 2016 to 2020, the real value (nominal values adjusted by inflation) of UK government administered benefits (including Universal Credit) has declined in recent years.

While the benefit freeze was lifted in 2020 to boost support for families during the pandemic, the subsequent cost of living crisis has continued to erode the true value of benefits amid very high rates of inflation.

Over the last year UK reserved benefits have been uprated various times, though not always in line with inflation. For example, in April 2022, UK reserved benefits were uprated by 3.1%. In comparison, the annual rate of CPI at that point was 9%. ¹²² In recognition of this shortfall, in April 2022, the Scottish Government, using latest available data at the time, applied a higher uprating of 6% to eight devolved benefits. ¹²³ More recently, the latest uprating in April 2023 of 10.1% by the UK¹²⁴ and Scottish Governments ¹²⁵ mean benefit rates actually increased more than inflation (which was 8.7% that month), partly mitigating those previous losses of real terms value.

There are practical reasons for the Scottish and UK Governments to use the previous September CPI rate to uprate benefits each April, such as the time required to update benefits systems and the timing of budgets. However, stakeholders have argued that while this process broadly preserves the real terms value of benefits when inflation is stable and close to the Bank of England's 2% target, during periods of high inflation benefit clients can face volatile changes to their benefit income.¹²⁶

Cost of living payments, as well as other social security benefits, can provide an additional boost to household incomes. The Scottish Government has taken a range of measures, most notably, the increase to the Scottish Child Payment¹²⁷ and increased funding for Discretionary Housing Payments.¹²⁸

Additionally, people living in Scotland facing financial emergencies can also apply for a grant from the Scottish Welfare Fund. Vii While these are welcomed at a time of financial strain, stakeholders argue for systematic entitlements rather than ad-hoc funding in order to improve family incomes. A recent review of the Fund highlighted the value of its discretionary nature to account for local need and the nature of the cash-limited scheme. The findings report that there was no definitive answer as to why some local authorities have lower application success rates than others, but did note that monitoring data evidenced variability in success based on location and the time of year applicants apply to the Fund. The conclusions support a programme of audit to provide further understanding of local variation. To

^{vii} There are similar schemes across the UK. For example, the Household Support Fund in England, Discretionary Assistance Fund in Wales, and the Discretionary Support Scheme in Northern Ireland.

Eligibility

The cost of living crisis has highlighted how those who are narrowly ineligible for benefits could actually end up worse-off financially than those in receipt. This is because eligibility for cost of living payments is determined by being on a qualifying benefit. This means that people in receipt of the lowest awards of universal credit still qualify to receive cost of living payments, while those just above the threshold miss out. This is more widely considered in the Scottish Government analytical report on the cost of living crisis. Though, since publication of that report, the situation for many families may have worsened.

Additionally, eligibility rules for some UK government benefits mean that certain households are entitled to less, proportionally, than others. The two-child limit on the child element of Universal Credit and child tax credit, for example, particularly affects families with three or more children born before April 2017 (and especially those headed by lone-parents). Turther, people under 25 years of age are subject to a lower rate of Universal Credit than those over 25 years of age. This differential rate can impact on how young families experience the cost of living crisis and make it more difficult to stay out of poverty. While these are pre-existing issues, they are further exacerbated by the cost of living crisis and these challenges limit the financial support on offer to families.

Impacts on priority family types

Although the fundamental issue is the same for all low income households – incomes are not sufficient to meet inflated costs – the causes and impacts of the cost of living crisis affect each household differently. This is because a multitude of factors account for why a household may be experiencing poverty. For some households, there may be particular barriers to finding and entering work, while others may have additional, unavoidable, costs due to their household circumstances.

This section focuses on how the characteristics of each of the six priority household groups impact upon how they experience the cost of living crisis.

It is important to note that, although each priority household type is considered discretely, in reality these characteristics often intersect. For example, all six of the identified characteristics could be present in a single household. These intersections will affect people's experience of financial precarity and could compound levels of hardship. There are also contextual factors applicable to all household types that can exacerbate or alleviate financial stress, such as the strength of one's support network and the quality and availability of services.

While there are other household types and characteristics which are likely to make families vulnerable during the cost of living crisis (e.g. gender, rurality), this evidence review did not seek to explicitly cover equality characteristics (e.g. gender, religion, sexual orientation) nor did it seek to cover other attributes linked to lower income households (e.g. housing tenure, geographical location). This is more widely explored in a recent Scottish Government report on the cost of living crisis in Scotland.¹

Larger families (with three or more children)

This section highlights specific challenges that families with three or more children face during the ongoing cost of living crisis. Policies that alleviate these challenges are likely to minimise the risk of these families falling into poverty or deeper into poverty.



Figure 1: Summary of aggravated challenges that families with three or more children face

Aggravated challenges

Higher cost of essentials associated with larger households Benefit cap and flat rate cost of living payments mean larger families receive proportionally less financial support from UK Government

Balancing paid work with childcare commitments and/or costs

Unfavourable income from social security

Evidence suggests that the recent rise in child poverty in the UK (from 2012/2013) has been entirely driven by changes in the poverty rate for larger households, with barely any change for households in which there are fewer than three children. Changes to the UK benefits system are likely to explain the growth in poverty for larger families, with the benefit cap and the two child limit naturally having a greater impact on the incomes of larger families. While the Scottish Government mitigates the benefit cap through Discretionary Housing Payments, larger families are still negatively impacted by the two child limit.

Same rate of support despite higher costs

The UK government's Cost of Living Support provides one off, lump-sum payments to households where an individual is on a qualifying benefit. However, this means that larger households receive the same amount as households with fewer children, despite having higher expenses. 136

Limited options for increasing income from employment

The majority of children from larger families in poverty live in a household where someone works. 92 However, it is more difficult in a larger family to offset the costs of childcare with income from work. If parents increase their working hours, it becomes necessary to arrange more childcare provision which, with three, or more children, represents a significant expense. Sometimes, the childcare expense outstrips the financial gains from additional hours or further employment. 137

Cost of living impact

Parents from larger families face greater barriers to working more hours, and have lost income through legacy austerity measures. They are more likely to be in debt or arrears as they struggle to keep up with the cost of living.¹³⁸

Research by JRF profiled the coping strategies employed by each of the priority family groups in response to the cost of living crisis. Larger families are the least likely to have sought employment, or additional work if already working, but nearly a quarter (22%) reported selling household items to boost household income.⁶⁵

Further, there is evidence that larger families are already struggling to maintain living standards during the ongoing crisis. A survey conducted by the Food Foundation in September 2022 reports that, across the UK, families with three or more children are much more likely to experience food insecurity (42%) than smaller families (25%). Indeed, the latest data for Scotland from the Family Resources Survey (FRS), covering 2021-2022, shows that both levels of food insecurity and food bank use are higher in households with three or more children than for smaller families. However, it is worth noting that UK Trussell Trust figures show that, prior to the cost of living crisis, larger families were already overrepresented among people receiving food bank parcels in their network.

Lone parents

This section highlights specific challenges that lone parent families face during the ongoing cost of living crisis. Policies that alleviate these challenges are likely to minimise the risk of these families falling into poverty or deeper into poverty.



Figure 2: Aggravated challenges for lone parent families

Aggravated challenges

Limited ability to increase income through employment

High household costs to income ratio

Lack of financial buffer

Limited options for increasing income from employment

The majority of lone parents are in paid employment although, of the six priority family groups, lone parents are the least likely to be employed.⁹² The latest figures from the Office for National Statistics show that, in the UK, 69% of lone parents are in employment; with nearly half of these (48%) employed on a part-time basis.¹⁴³

Lone parents are less likely to be able to increase their household income during the cost of living crisis due to childcare responsibilities which can limit the amount and type of work undertaken. As the sole carer for a child, or children, lone parents can find it challenging to balance these responsibilities with paid work, especially where they do not have ready access to familial support.¹⁴⁴

Further, because the vast majority of lone parents are women, their earning potential is also affected by the gender pay gap which represents the undervaluation of work more typically done by women, such as domestic services, administration, early learning and childcare.¹⁴⁵

High household costs to income ratio

Household income is further limited by the fact that there is just one (potential) earner – whose income has to cover all household expenditure. Data from the Living Costs and Food Survey 2020-2021 highlights that lone parents spend over 50% of their household income on essentials, such as food, housing and clothing (compared to just over 40% for dual parent households). Additionally, JRF analysis conducted in January 2022 estimated lone parents would spend a quarter of their income on energy bills from April 2022. 147

Further, some evidence suggests that lone parents may be missing out on child maintenance payments from a non-custodial parent which would boost household income. Relatedly, there may be additional costs for parents who are separated such as paying for the travel necessary to maintain child contact.

Lack of financial buffer

A range of evidence indicates that lone-parent households are most vulnerable to the effects of the cost of living crisis and have suffered the worst impacts. ^{65,68,72} For example, in research completed by JRF, seven in ten lone parent households (70%) reported having no, or low (<£250) savings and were more likely to report being in debt or arrears, meaning that they have very little protection against rising prices. ⁶⁵ Further, they are the most likely household type to report being unable to pay an unexpected bill of £200 (30%). ⁶⁵ Lone parents also more frequently reported cutting back on basics and essentials to try to save money. ⁶⁵

Cost of living impact

Lone parent households were more likely than other priority groups to have applied for Universal Credit or for a crisis grant to help with the cost of living. Analysis from Action for Children's Crisis Fund shows that lone parents were disproportionately over-represented in applications. This suggests that lone parents, in particular, are running out of ways to economise and are turning to emergency support. For example, between 2021 and 2022, compared to all other household types, single parent households in the UK were significantly more likely to experience low or very low food security and were far more likely to have used a food bank in the same period. However, FRS data for Scotland suggests that low levels of food insecurity were more prevalent pre-pandemic, with 29% reporting low or very low food security in 2019/20, compared with 22% in 2021/22.

Evidence also suggests that the cost of living crisis is particularly impacting upon the mental health of lone-parents. Research completed by One Parent Families Scotland in March-April 2022 reported that 86% of lone parents struggled with their mental health most or some of the time in the last year. Further, in research conducted by JRF, lone parents reported negative impacts on their social and personal lives as a result of the cost of living. Lone parents who cut back on social and leisure activities to save money are left particularly isolated, which has detrimental effects on mental health.

Minority ethnic households

This section highlights specific challenges that minority ethnic families face during the ongoing cost of living crisis. Policies that alleviate these challenges are likely to minimise the risk of these families falling into poverty or deeper into poverty.



It is important to note that 'minority ethnic' includes a diverse range of ethnic groups with a diverse range of experiences and outcomes. For example, employment rates vary considerably between different groups.

Figure 3: Aggravated challenges for minority ethnic households

Aggravated challenges

Experience deeper levels of poverty compared to white population

Comparatively higher rate of inwork poverty

Face structural barriers due to minority status, including structural racism in the labor market

Deepening poverty relative to other groups

Although the relative poverty rate for minority ethnic households has remained relatively stable for the past 15 years, inequalities below the poverty line have been widening. This means minority ethnic people experience comparatively deeper levels of poverty than the white Scottish/British population. In 2022, the Runnymede Trust found that minority ethnic households are less likely to have savings and income at their disposal and are, therefore, more vulnerable to rises in the cost of living.

There is a high degree of correspondence between ethnicity and other factors associated with financial hardship and poverty. Minority ethnic households with children in Scotland are overrepresented in the private renting sector and spend a higher proportion of their income on housing costs than other families. The Scottish Government's 'Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) Act' offers some protection to private renters by capping rent increases, as well as placing a moratorium on enforced evictions.

Higher rate of in-work poverty

Of the priority groups, minority ethnic households with children have the highest rates of employment.¹⁵¹ In-work poverty is a particular issue for this group, who have to navigate structural racism in the labour market. Rates of hours and pay are comparatively worse for minority ethnic households who are overrepresented in jobs associated with lower socio-economic circumstances.¹⁵² This is particularly the case for Pakistani and Bangladeshi workers.¹⁵³

In order to mitigate against the effects of rising costs, minority ethnic households were significantly more likely than other priority groups to try and increase income through work – primarily seeking more hours or additional employment.⁶⁵

Structural Barriers

While there is a lack of evidence on levels of benefit take-up,⁹² there is research which indicates that language barriers and the stigma of claiming benefits can affect people from ethnic minority backgrounds accessing social security.¹⁵⁴ For example, in many Arab and South Asian cultures, financial difficulties are perceived as a source of shame which may deter people from seeking state assistance.¹⁵⁵ Similarly, while it is difficult to evidence empirically, it is probable that structural racism is an inhibitor of career progression for ethnic minorities.^{134,156}

Cost of living impact

Minority ethnic families were one of the most likely family groups to have accessed foodbanks (13%, compared to 10% of low income families). ⁶⁵ Indeed, food insecurity is higher amongst Black and Minority Ethnic communities (11% compared to 6% for White communities). When the data is analysed to look at the food insecurity levels of children by ethnicity, there is still a prominent gap between minority ethnic and white communities (14% and 10%, respectively). ¹⁵⁰ Further, minority ethnic households were likely to be impacted by the cost of living in terms of the rising costs of speciality or culturally appropriate food. ^{71,72,134}

It is difficult to gauge recent changes in food security levels for minority ethnic families within Scotland. The latest FRS data provides an aggregate of 4 years of data, due to small samples, so direct comparisons between before and after the onset of the cost of living crisis (late 2021) cannot be made. 140,141

Additionally, research by the Royal Society for Public Health found people who identify as an ethnic minority are more likely to have reduced or cancelled leisure/recreational activities in an effort to reduce household spending (48%, compared to 28% for the general population).¹⁵⁷

Households with a disabled adult or child

This section highlights specific challenges that families with a disabled adult or child face during the ongoing cost of living crisis. Policies that alleviate these challenges are likely to minimise the risk of these families falling into poverty or deeper into poverty.



Figure 4: Aggravated challenges for families with disabled adult or child

Aggravated challenges

Higher living costs and any price increases will be acutely felt Already in a vulnerable position with limited options for increasing income from employment

Gaps in provision with government support not meeting the additional costs arising from disability

Higher ongoing living costs

Families with a disabled adult or child are likely to face higher living costs than those households where no one is disabled. Analysis by Scope reports that, in 2019-2020, on average, households with a disabled person required an additional £975 per month in order to have the same standard of living as non-disabled households.

In particular, the costs of energy and food, which have significantly contributed to recent inflation rises, may be greater for these households. For example, they may require additional heating, or need to run specialist equipment which uses more energy. Therefore, these households do not have an option to reduce these costs. ¹⁶⁰ Indeed, primary research with Marie Curie staff in 2022 found that 84% of patients had struggled to afford energy bills due to the cost of living crisis. ¹⁶¹

Some people, depending on the type of disability, can experience difficulty preparing food and so may rely on convenience food which is more expensive. 158 Others can face additional expenses associated with condition-specific specialist diets. 162 Levels of food security are therefore low compared to households with no disabled individual(s). Data do not yet portray the likely impact of the cost of living crisis on food security for disabled households. 140,141

Additionally, of those surveyed by JRF, households with a disabled adult or child were the most likely group to report a negative effect on their mental health as a result of the cost of living crisis (74%) and, correspondingly, were most likely to have sought mental health support from the NHS (24%).⁶⁵

Limited options to increase income from paid work

In the UK, 79% of children who live in a household with a disabled person have at least one parent in work. 92 However, the rate of employment for disabled people is significantly lower than for the general population 163 so, it is likely that the relatively high rate of employment in disabled households is accounted for by a non-disabled adult in

work. The non-disabled adult is likely to have a wide range of unpaid caring responsibilities in the household, which can make changes to their working arrangements (such as, increasing hours or additional employment) difficult.¹⁶⁴

The Resolution Foundation note how, when disabled people are in work, they tend to work fewer hours and are less well paid on average. This will impact on a household's ability to manage financially during the current cost of living crisis. Further, in households where a child is disabled, it can be significantly more difficult to find childcare that adequately addresses that child's needs. For parents of disabled children, finding work that fits around childcare (whether from the parent, themselves, or from a formal provider) can be especially challenging. 134,166

Gaps in social security provision

The UK Government support package for disabled people (a one-off payment of £150)¹⁶⁷ does not account for additional needs arising from different types of disability and therefore may not be sufficient to meet everyone's costs. For example, research by Scope found that 80% of disabled people receiving the £150 Disability Cost of Living Payment believed this would not be enough to cover the increased costs of essentials. Furthermore, the amount did not cover the deficit between the inflation rate and the value of benefits. Although benefits have now been uprated in line with September's CPI rate of inflation, this does not account for specific expenses such as food and energy, which disabled households are likely to spend more on and which have increased at a higher rate than the overall rate of inflation. 170,171

To ease the financial burden on households with a disabled person, the Scottish Government has introduced specific benefits for carers. These include carer's allowance supplement which amounts to over £500 additional income per year for carers and a young carer grant worth over £300 a year for people aged 16-18 with caring responsibilities. In addition, Child Winter Heating Assistance (an annual payment of £235.70 for Winter 2023-2024) is paid automatically to households with a child on the highest rate care component of Child Disability Payment. Further, Social Security Scotland has taken a different approach to applying the eligibility criteria for Adult Disability Payment compared to Personal Independence Payments (PIP) administered by the DWP. Eligibility for PIP has been seen as increasingly conditional, leading to more claims being rejected for people who had previously gualified.

Households with a child under one year old

This section highlights specific challenges that families with a baby face during the ongoing cost of living crisis. Policies that alleviate these challenges are likely to minimise the risk of these families falling into poverty or deeper into poverty.



Figure 5: Aggravated challenges for families with a child under one year old

Aggravated challenges

Having a baby increases ongoing expenses for many families. This is on the back of reduced household income due to parental leave or reduced working hours

Little room for reprioritising spend within the household. Increases recorded in the cost of baby essentials Affordable and available childcare options are highly limited for families with babies.
Government support starts from the age of two for eligible families

Adjusting family finances

Having a new-born baby can be a catalyst for falling or moving deeper into poverty.¹⁷⁴ Babies not only represent additional costs but can often mean a loss of income as parents take leave from employment often at a reduced rate of pay.¹¹⁴

In the context of a cost of living crisis, parents will experience these new financial pressures to a greater extent as the cost of essentials increases. The 'First Steps Nutrition Trust' reports that, over a nine month period (August 2021 – May 2022), the cost of some infant formula increased by 14%.¹⁷⁵ As a product used daily, increases to the price of infant formula can represent a significant proportion of a household's food budget. There are also reports that the price of nappies has increased at greater pace than the rate of inflation.¹⁷⁶

For some mothers, the choice over breastfeeding has been effectively removed as they cannot afford formula and must breastfeed out of necessity.⁷² This means that for many there will be an added pressure to breastfeed or spend already limited household resources on increasingly costly formula.

Childcare

Returning to work when a child is still a baby means having to organise suitable childcare arrangements which, if using a formal childcare provider, represents another significant cost. In Scotland, there is a strong Early Learning and Childcare offer. However, the allocation of government funded childcare hours is not available until a child is aged three years old, or two years old if a parent is on qualifying benefits.¹⁷⁷ A parent on Universal Credit can claim to have part of their childcare paid for (85%).¹⁷⁸ However, it then can become a challenge for parents to make sure the amount they

work does not affect their benefit eligibility whilst still earning enough to cover costs, including their proportion of childcare. 174

Impacts for parental wellbeing

Facing financial difficulties when raising a baby or young child has been associated with stigma and feelings of inadequacy brought about by parents being unable to provide for children in the way they would like.¹⁷⁹ The consequences of this are that parents economise on their own needs as they prioritise their children's wellbeing¹⁷⁴ and/or end up getting into debt. A recent ONS survey reports that 30% of parents with dependent children under four years old reported using credit more than usual due to the increased costs of living – a greater proportion than any of the other characteristics reported on.⁷⁰

Mothers under 25 years old

This section highlights specific challenges that mothers aged 25 or under face during the ongoing cost of living crisis. Policies that alleviate these challenges are likely to minimise the risk of these families falling into poverty or deeper into poverty.



Figure 6: Aggravated challenges for families with mothers aged 25 or under

Aggravated challenges

Limited options to increase income through employment

Limited options for increasing income through social security. Some benefits are age related and younger people receive less

Limited tools to absorb the recent increases in the cost of living

Limited options for increasing income from employment

Women and young people are at higher risk of in-work poverty as they have a lower than average hourly rate of pay. ⁹² For example, the National Living Wage is not enforced until the employee is at least 23 years old. ¹⁸⁰ In addition, the impact of the pandemic on employment has been particularly negative for this group. Evidence shows that young people were most affected by job losses, furlough and reduced hours and, since then, while pay for those under 18 years of age has recovered, pay levels for those aged 18 to 24 have increased more slowly. ¹⁸¹ Further, this group are less likely to have savings. ¹⁸¹ This, paired with low-paid employment, makes it harder for mothers under 25 years old to meet the costs of living. ¹³⁴

Limited options for increasing income from social security

The rate of some social security benefits is lower for under 25s than for older age groups (for example, standard Universal Credit allowance and rates for Local Housing Allowance). Even when they qualify for benefits, young people can face barriers to accessing income from social security as they have less experience navigating complex social security systems. Additionally, the youngest mothers (those aged under 20 years of age) are more reliant on social security than older mothers. This makes them most at risk of any cuts or changes to eligibility criteria. 92

Confronting the cost of living crisis on less solid ground

Generally, mothers aged under 25 are more likely to have incomes that fluctuate. This is called 'income volatility' and it makes it hard to plan for recurrent sources of spending such as childcare, utilities, or housing. While there are no additional costs directly associated with a parent's age, there is some evidence from Scotland that younger mothers are less likely to access various advice or support services which could mean they are missing out on ways to maximise income. Because of their age, a

younger mother's peer group are less likely to have children themselves and therefore informal sources of advice and support may also be limited. 181

Recent qualitative interviews with young mothers showed how they were already feeling the impact of price increases acutely prior to the cost of living crisis. The main areas of concern were gas and electricity, but also baby essentials such as food, infant formula and baby items. None of those interviewed had money left over at the end of each month, and a few participants explained that they had made adjustments in what they buy and use in order to cut back and help them cope financially. As the cost of living crisis continues, their situation is likely to worsen.

Considerations for policy makers

Key Messages

The cost of living crisis has disproportionately impacted upon families living in low income households, who were struggling following the COVID-19 pandemic and a decade of austerity measures.

The cost of living support package provided by UK and Scottish Government is widely seen as progressive and has been welcomed by many stakeholders. A continuation of such support is still seen as urgent and required to minimise the impact of the crisis on low income households.

Emerging evidence, mostly provided by stakeholders, urges policy makers to consider:

- 1. Greater focus on targeted approaches with an active consideration of the varying needs and challenges facing households. Including those who are narrowly missing out on a range of support and who are increasingly struggling.
- 2. Boosting take-up of means-tested benefits (i.e. Universal Credit) particularly when used as a gateway to other sources of support. Further, consider approaches which aim to ensure that the basic rate of Universal Credit is enough to afford household essentials.
- 3. Providing adequate support and assistance in applying for benefits.
- 4. Wider systemic change is required to alleviate poverty and reduce the challenges faced by lower income households in the long term.

This section explores generic issues to consider when designing policies to support families in need. Specifically, it focuses on debates concerning targeted or universal interventions, the stigma surrounding access to interventions, and the need for longer-term systemic change.

Current cost of living support package

In response to the crisis, the UK government announced a raft of support measures during 2022-2023:

- The Energy Bills Support Scheme (EBSS). A £400 energy rebate for all households (paid over a six month period from October 2022) to help with energy bills over the winter of 2022/2023.⁸³
- The Energy Price Guarantee (EPG). This policy was introduced in October 2022 and limits the price households pay per unit of gas and electricity. In October 2022 this was set at £2,500, with this level to remain until April 2023, when it increased to £3,000.¹⁸⁴
- Cost of Living Payments. A £650 support payment, paid in two instalments to low income households on eligible means-tested benefits.¹⁸⁵ For most households, this was paid in July 2022 and November 2022.¹⁸⁶
- **Disability Cost of Living Payment**. A one off payment of £150 for people with disabilities (in receipt of non means-tested disability benefits). This was paid between September and October 2022.¹⁸⁶
- Pensioner Cost of Living Payment. A one off payment of up to £300 for pensioners eligible for Winter Fuel Payment. This was paid as an increase to Winter Fuel Payment for winter 2022/2023.¹⁸⁷

Further, the UK Government has already announced the following support for the current financial year 2023-2024. This includes:

- Extension of the Energy Price Guarantee (EPG). In the Spring 2023 Statement it was announced that, due to energy costs remaining high, the current EPG level (of £2,500) would remain for a further three months to 30 June 2023. Therefore, the EPG increase to £3,000 will be implemented in July 2023. The UK Government Spring Budget 2023 statement, it was announced that from July 2023 the EPG would be adjusted to bring comparable charges for pre-payment meters and direct debit customers until April 2024 (when the EPG ends). Further, there is an aim to ensure the pre-payment meters premium is ended on a permanent basis beyond April 2024. 188
- Cost of Living Payments. A £900 payment for those eligible and on means-tested benefits. The first payment, of £301, was paid between April-May 2023. 189
- Disability Cost of Living Payment. A one off payment of £150 for people with disabilities (in receipt of non means-tested disability benefits). This will be paid between June-July 2023.¹⁹⁰
- **Pensioner Cost of Living Payment**. A one off payment of up to £300 for pensioners eligible for Winter Fuel Payment. This will be paid later in 2023. 189

Both last year and this, the Scottish Government has allocated almost £3bn to support policies which tackle poverty and to protect people as far as possible during the ongoing cost of living crisis. Measures include:

- The Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) Act. In September 2022, the Scottish Government announced emergency legislation which included a temporary freeze on in-tenancy rent increases (this moved to a rental cap of 3% in April 2023) and a moratorium on rental evictions.
- Continuation of Fuel Insecurity Fund. In March 2023, the First Minister announced increased support for households with energy costs. Up to £30 million will be provided to extend the Fuel Insecurity Fund over 2023-24. This funding provides support for vulnerable households, through partnership with third sector organisations, who are at risk of 'self-disconnection' or 'self-rationing' energy use.
- Cost of Living Award. In February 2022, it was announced that low income
 households and households in Council Tax Bands A-D, would receive a Cost of Living
 Award of £150 to assist with Council Tax. This was paid to eligible households before
 the end of April 2022.
- Islands Cost Crisis Emergency Fund. In November 2022, the Emergency Budget Review allocated a £1.4m fund to target immediate support to islanders struggling due to the cost of living crisis. The cost of living on islands is higher when compared to the mainland.
- Doubling the December Bridging Payment. In October 2022, the then First minister
 announced that the final quarterly bridging payment, due in December 2022, would be
 doubled to £260 to provide extra support over winter and help with cost of living
 pressures.
- Winter Heating Payment. In the Programme for Government (Sep 2022), a new Winter Heating Payment (WHP) was set out which replaces DWP's Cold Weather Payment. In 2022-23, this had a value of £50. Next winter, the payment rate will be £55.05 and will help around 395,000 low income individuals.
- Enhancing Discretionary Housing Payments. In the Programme for Government (Sep 2022), the Scottish Government committed to giving local authorities more flexibility to take account of energy bills in their prioritisation of households for Discretionary Housing Payments, as well as increasing the funding for Discretionary Housing Payments by £5 million.

Balancing the right approach to support

This section highlights recent discussions from stakeholders and some early emerging evidence on the approach taken by both the UK and Scottish Government to support families during the ongoing cost of living crisis. It explores generic issues to consider when designing policies to support families in need, specifically: targeting, the stigma surrounding access to interventions, and the need for longer-term systemic change.

Targeted or universal support

The range of support provided from both the UK and Scottish Governments during the cost of living crisis has been recognized by stakeholders as broadly progressive. However, there has been some concerns, mainly:

- Lack of consideration of varying circumstances. Some stakeholders argue, that blanket payments do not adequately account for varying circumstances between households. For example, larger households and households with disabled members have been identified as potentially losing out due to their higher energy costs. 191 Additionally, people with incomes just above the eligibility threshold for means-tested benefits could be significantly worse off than those who just qualify. 1 Finally, it has been argued that, even with cost of living supports, low income households still face a shortfall which would have been better addressed by more timely uprating of benefits in line with inflation. 169
- Ensuring that policies support those most in need. Many stakeholders were
 concerned about the universal nature of the Energy Price Guarantee (EPG) and the
 Energy Bill Support Scheme (EBSS) in supporting families with rising energy costs in
 2022-2023. The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) commented on how these
 interventions disproportionately benefitted higher income households due to their
 universal nature. The report states that the UK Government should have targeted those
 on lower incomes who would struggle most to cope with the higher energy costs over
 the winter of 2022-2023.
- Making sure that the support provided is sufficient. There are concerns that the support provided is not enough. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) highlight that while the UK Government has announced a support package for those on means-tested benefits in 2023-2024 this does not go far enough in helping those on the lowest incomes. JRF state that four in ten households in the most economically disadvantaged fifth of the population are not receiving such benefits.¹⁹² Thus, these households are left without additional support during the continued crisis. JRF calculate that the UK Government support package for 2023-2024 will mean household budgets remain broadly steady for low income families. They estimate an increase of £6,050 in income across the past two years, which is slightly below the increase in prices, leaving a shortfall of £200.¹⁹³
- A need to consider those just missing out. Households marginally ineligible for means-tested benefits miss out on the cost of living payments. This means that those just above the threshold to receive support will be worse off. JRF assert that households who are on low incomes, but do not receive means-tested benefits, have been largely forgotten. Their analysis highlights that the increases in prices have left a

£3,500 gap in the budgets of those households in the bottom 20% of household incomes (and not receiving means-tested benefits). 193

In order to provide those most at need with maximum support, the following interventions have been suggested by stakeholder groups:

- Encouraging Universal Credit take-up. This would ensure people get the support available to them when they need it most. Academic research, funded by the Health Foundation, found that during the COVID-19 pandemic almost half a million people, who were eligible did not apply for Universal Credit. For almost three in five (59%) this was due to the perceived difficulties of the application including assessing if they were eligible, the claims process and the threat of sanctions. 194
- Adequate support and assistance in applying for benefits. For the Scottish Child
 Payment, the Scottish Government worked with the Social Security Experience Panels,
 which include people with lived experience of the UK benefits system, in the
 development and design of disability benefits. The interim evaluation of Scottish Child
 Payment found that clients saw the application process as straightforward. For some,
 the simple application process created a sense that they were entitled to the payment,
 as opposed to feeling they had to prove themselves for it.
- Continue to explore the provision of a social tariff in the energy market. This proposed measure is welcomed across the evidence, with it being deemed cost-effective in the longer term, ¹⁹⁵ but also a beneficial support package for those families hardest hit by energy costs, ¹⁹⁶ and viewed as a source of consumer protection. ¹⁹⁷
- Advocate for adequacy in reserved benefits. This would ensure the basic rate of Universal Credit is enough to afford household essentials, such as, food, household bills and travel costs.¹⁹⁸

Stigma in accessing support

In the wider UK context, poverty can be a contentious term with no clear definition and one that can be used to label and stigmatise.¹⁹⁹

During the cost of living crisis, it has been reported that adults can face stigma surrounding internalised feelings of shame, guilt and self-blame, but stigma may also be encountered when accessing services. 52,59

Some parents have described hiding their financial status, in order to protect their child, by continuing to buy expensive clothing their children. For lone parents, the Poverty Alliance reports that this level of desire to hide from poverty can result in lone parents not asking for greater levels of child maintenance from an ex-partner.⁵⁹

For some recipients, the process of receiving support and benefits can be stigmatising. While a lot of effort has been put in place by those working to reduce poverty to highlight the structural nature of poverty, there still remains a perception that poverty can be attributable to individual choices and decisions.²⁰⁰

Specifically, there are concerns about accessibility and take-up of social security and benefit entitlement in rural areas where the subjective nature of poverty, and stronger culture of self-reliance, can lead some to believe 'they are just getting by'. A sense of

pride and the 'visibility of life' in smaller communities may impact upon uptake, in that people are more conscious of others in the community being aware of their circumstances.²⁰¹

Across the evidence base, there is a recurring call for cash-first approaches to help support lower income households. These are viewed as more dignified than vouchers and in-kind support due to offering the individual the opportunity to have a sense of control over their life.²⁰² Recipients have also highlighted how cash-first approaches remove stigma as it is more discrete and does not highlight that the individual is in receipt of support (as opposed to vouchers).²⁰³ A cash first approach also communicates the idea of trust and that everyone is deserving of support when it is needed.²⁰⁰

Longer-term, systemic change

Across the evidence, it is apparent that lower income households continue to face significant challenges. The ongoing cost of living crisis has emphasized the systemic challenges that families face when household budgets and household resilience are strained. These will be covered in the subsequent sections of this report and range from:

- The need for **more accessible, flexible and high quality childcare.** ^{59,65,204} A recent review of the impact of childcare on parental poverty noted that formal childcare is an 'indispensable part of a policy toolkit' to tackle child and in-work poverty²⁰⁵
- Improved digital access and connectivity across all of Scotland^{68,201,206}
- An employment system which provides secure jobs with flexible, family friendly support alongside a minimum income guarantee^{viii} in order to raise household incomes and reduce levels of in work poverty^{68,76,207}
- An accessible and supportive social security system.⁶⁰ While it is welcomed across
 the evidence that benefits were uprated in April 2023 by 10.1%,¹²⁴ this still leaves
 benefit rates at a historic low in real terms. Therefore, many families are struggling to
 make ends meet, and greater consideration needs to be given to providing adequate
 packages of social security support²⁰⁸
- A greater need for mental health support, due to the deep links between poorer mental wellbeing and poverty⁶⁰
- A need for joined up and person-based services which deliver localised support^{60,65,201}

viii A minimum income guarantee is a suite of interventions which includes: social security payments; reforms to employability and access to collective services. The <u>interim report by the Minimum Income Guarantee</u>

<u>Expert Group</u> provides background to the work in this area to date.

Conclusions

The cost of living crisis is the latest development in a 15 year period of financial instability and uncertainty. Low income households have entered the latest crisis in a highly vulnerable position with few, or no, options left to reduce household costs. Many of these families do not have any more choices left. Interventions and support from government are both urgent and necessary to help families through this period.

However, when developing policies it is necessary to design services and support that respond to specific family circumstances. The evidence has outlined the structural challenges faced by those on low incomes and in particular those in the priority family groups. Their opportunities to increase income through paid work, even when the economy is better, can be limited. This in turn places a financial strain on the household. For example, for minority ethnic families this would mean navigating the impacts of structural racism in the labour market.

Equally important is a clear consideration of how the assistance and support is accessed by families. This refers not only to how and where individuals can access assistance (e.g. online, in person), but also how well this assistance meets the needs of individuals (e.g. localised approaches, consideration of eligibility criteria for targeted measures). These need to be equitable, while considering variation in need and demand. For example, the UK Government Cost of Living support package, in the form of lump-sum payments, does not account for the higher expenses faced by larger families.

The current cost of living crisis has added an additional layer of complexity to the stigma many families on low incomes face. Recurring across the evidence was the stigma experienced by many low income households. This was internalised, in feelings of inability to provide for their family, and externalised, in terms of not accessing welfare assistance due to social stigma. The result is lower levels of mental wellbeing for low income households during periods of financial crisis, and also places families at increased risk of financial insecurity. Efforts need to be made to challenge this stigma, develop a positive culture surrounding welfare assistance, and ensure low income households receive the support they are entitled to.

The current cost of living crisis **emphasizes a need for structural change**. This crisis reminds policy makers and wider stakeholders that a long-term approach is necessary to tackle child poverty. While direct financial assistance and indirect support is welcomed across the evidence base in order to meet the short term needs of low income households during the current cost emergency, the evidence highlights the needs for longer term, systemic change. The challenges faced by families living in low income households are exacerbated during the current crisis and, thus, longer-term changes across a combination of areas (such as, labour market, childcare, education, mental health, social security) are required to reduce child poverty and sustain positive impacts.

Annex A: Methodology

The findings presented in this report are based on an evidence review which sought to understand the impact of the cost of the living crisis on families in low income households.

Research Advisory Group

A Research Advisory Group (RAG) was established for the project to offer and provide insights, advice, feedback and contacts that would help to contribute to quality assurance. This group contained a combination of Scottish Government representatives and external stakeholders. After one initial virtual meeting, the group mainly contributed via email. The group fed into aspects of the review, including:

- Providing, advice and challenge on the research project
- Support in identifying evidence gaps and highlighting evidence sources
- Helping to shape and advise on suitable research outputs and effective strategy for communication and dissemination of research outputs and findings
- Quality assuring research outputs

Evidence search

The evidence review search was completed using Idox and KandE databases. Searches were carried out using keywords to capture the range of factors affected by the cost of living (such as, poverty, low income, living costs, cost of living, wellbeing, fuel insecurity, period insecurity, food insecurity, rent freeze, debt, housing costs, social security, employment) as well as key events (including financial crisis, austerity, COVID-19, cost of living crisis). The key events were used as we were aware the evidence base for the current cost of living crisis would be limited. As a result, we were keen to evidence learnings from the COVID-19 pandemic and the 2008 financial crisis in order to better understand the societal impacts, challenges and what works to support families through a societal crisis, such as the cost of living crisis. For the searches around the financial crisis and austerity, these were dated back to 2008 while all other key events were dated from 2020 onwards. Further, while the review primarily focused on research from Scotland and the United Kingdom, international evidence was included where relevant. This search of databases provided 109 evidence sources.

Further evidence was gathered from stakeholders – which provided 281 sources of evidence. These sources were primarily grey literature. This was gathered from:

• RAG members

_

^{ix} This included evidence from: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Scotland, Slovakia, Slovenia, Switzerland, Spain, Sweden, United States.

- Internal Scottish Government analytical groups
- Wider stakeholders across Scottish Government and UK Government
- A review of stakeholder websites

Inclusion criteria

For inclusion in the review, the evidence source had to:

- Draw upon empirical research exploring the impact of a crisis on families and for those living in poverty and/or in low income households
- Be published between 2008 present (for austerity and financial crisis related sources) and 2020 present (for COVID-19 pandemic and cost of living crisis related sources).
- Be an academic publication or grey literature (e.g. working papers, evaluation, government reports).
- Provide insights and understanding to the cost of living crisis and it's impacts for low income families.

Applying this criteria to the evidence base resulted in a greater number of sources drawn from stakeholder groups as opposed to academic literature.

How to access background or source data

The data collected for this social research publication:
☐ are available in more detail through Scottish Neighbourhood Statistics
☐ are available via an alternative route
\Box may be made available on request, subject to consideration of legal and ethical factors. Please contact < > for further information.
□ cannot be made available by Scottish Government for further analysis as Scottish Government is not the data controller. All sources used are quoted and details provided in the footnotes/endnotes or through direct hyperlinks.

Sources

- ¹ The Cost of Living Crisis in Scotland: analytical report gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- ² The Insecurity Complex Low Paid Workers and the Growth of Insecure work 1.pdf (livingwage.org.uk)
- ³ Inflation and price indices Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
- ⁴ Cost of living insights Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
- ⁵ Consumer price inflation, UK Office for National Statistics
- ⁶ Economic and fiscal outlook March 2023 (obr.uk)
- ⁷ Austerity in 2009–13 | Economic Policy | Oxford Academic (oup.com)
- ⁸ Welfare savings 2010-11 to 2020-21 House of Commons Library (parliament.uk)
- ⁹ The Benefit Cap (parliament.uk)
- ¹⁰ Benefits Uprating 2020 (parliament.uk)
- 11 Two child limit in Universal Credit and child tax credits House of Commons Library (parliament.uk)
- ¹² Changes to the Working Tax Credit hours rules for couples with children from April 2012 House of Commons Library (parliament.uk)
- ¹³ Spending Review 2010 GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- ¹⁴ Renewing Scotland's Public Services Priorities for reform in response to the Christie Commission (www.gov.scot)
- ¹⁵ Under-occupying social housing: Housing Benefit entitlement House of Commons Library (parliament.uk)
- ¹⁶ Research Findings No. 12/2014: Poverty: The Impact of Welfare Reform in Scotland Tracking Study: Year 1 Findings (www.gov.scot)
- ¹⁷ depths of the cuts: the uneven geography of local government austerity | Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society | Oxford Academic (oup.com)
- ¹⁸ The cost of the cuts: the impact on local government and poorer communities JRF 2015
- ¹⁹ Poverty and Income Inequality in Scotland 2019-22 Scottish Government
- ²⁰ Deepening poverty in Scotland no one left behind? | JRF
- ²¹ Working age poverty: Working households and individuals JRF 2022
- ²² End of Year Stats The Trussell Trust -2022
- ²³ Scottish Welfare Fund statistics: update to 30 June 2022 gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- ²⁴ Visit to the United Kingdom UN Special Rapporteur 2019
- ²⁵ Cumulative Impact Assessment equality and human rights 2018
- Austerity and health: the impact in the UK and Europe | European Journal of Public Health | Oxford Academic (oup.com)
- ²⁷ The relationship between austerity and food insecurity in the UK: A systematic review ScienceDirect
- ²⁸ Austerity in the United Kingdom and its legacy: Lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic Tania Arrieta, 2022 (sagepub.com)
- ²⁹ The true cost of austerity and inequality: UK case study (oxfam.org)
- ³⁰ Cutting away at our children's futures: how austerity is affecting the health of children, young people and families (bma.org.uk)
- ³¹ [Withdrawn] Children of critical workers and vulnerable children who can access schools or educational settings GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- 32 CBP-9152.pdf (parliament.uk)
- ³³ Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health and wellbeing of parents with young children: a qualitative interview study | BMC Psychology | Full Text (biomedcentral.com)
- ³⁴ Poverty in the Pandemic CPAG 2020
- ³⁵ The-effect-of-the-coronavirus-crisis-on-workers.pdf (resolutionfoundation.org)
- ³⁶ Poverty during the Covid-19 crisis | Legatum Institute (li.com)
- ³⁷ Adams Boneva Golin Rauh Covidinequalityproject.pdf Google Drive
- ³⁸ <u>Supporting documents Coronavirus (COVID-19)</u> <u>support in low income households: evaluation gov.scot (www.gov.scot)</u>
- ³⁹ Staying afloat in a crisis: families on low incomes in the pandemic | JRF
- 40 Examining the end of the furlough scheme (parliament.uk)
- ⁴¹ TPA GHS Child Poverty Plan 2022-26.pdf (povertyalliance.org)
- ⁴² Scotland's Wellbeing: The Impact of COVID-19 | National Performance Framework
- ⁴³ Supporting documents Coronavirus (COVID-19): impact on wellbeing survey findings gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- ⁴⁴ Covid-19: How are families with children faring so far? | IPPR
- ⁴⁵ From pandemic to cost of living crisis: low income families in challenging times | JRF

- 46 Covid+and+Inequalities+Final+Report+For+Publication+-+PDF.pdf (www.gov.scot)
- ⁴⁷ Public attitudes to coronavirus, cost of living and Ukraine: tracker data tables gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- ⁴⁸ Cost of living: the impact on children's mental health (happiful.com)
- ⁴⁹ New UK Youth research shows impact of cost of living crisis on young people UK Youth
- ⁵⁰ How is the cost-of-living crisis affecting children and young people? | Together Scotland
- Changing-patterns-of-poverty-in-early-childhood-Nuffield-Foundation.pdf (nuffieldfoundation.org)
 MHF-cost-of-living-crisis-report-2023-01-12.pdf (mentalhealth.org.uk)
- ⁵³ Cost of living crisis: we cannot ignore the human cost of living in poverty | The BMJ
- ⁵⁴ The cost of living crisis is harming mental health, partly because of previous cuts to social security | The **BMJ**
- ⁵⁵ Health effects of indebtedness: a systematic review
- ⁵⁶ Microsoft Word Every day is a struggle.docx (nuffieldfoundation.org)
- ⁵⁷ Transport and Child Poverty | Transport Scotland
- ⁵⁸ Cost of living crisis and mental health Money and Mental Health
- ⁵⁹ "It's hard work being poor". Women's experiences of the cost-of-living crisis in Scotland
- 60 Delivering for families? | JRF
- 61 Loneliness and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic PMC (nih.gov)
- 62 Evidence paper to accompany: Scotland's Strategic Framework Update (www.gov.scot)
- "Dropped into a cave": how families with young children experienced lockdown
 NPF Impact of COVID-19 December 2020.pdf (nationalperformance.gov.scot)
- ⁶⁵ Poverty in Scotland 2022 | JRF
- 66 Microsoft Word Child Poverty and Transport Research Final Report May 2021 (002) (povertyalliance.org)
- Recovering our Connections 2023-2026: A Plan to take forward the delivery of A Connected Scotland our strategy for tackling social isolation and loneliness and building stronger social connections (www.gov.scot)
- ⁶⁸ Living-without-a-lifeline-full-report.pdf (opfs.org.uk)
- ⁶⁹ Population health impacts of the rising cost of living in Scotland
- ⁷⁰ Impact of increased cost of living on adults across Great Britain Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
- ⁷¹ Poverty-and-Inequality-Commission-Cost-of-living-briefing-.pdf (povertyinequality.scot)
- 72 www.povertyalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/SWBG_PA_Cost_of_Living_Report_Final.pdf
- 73 Scottish Welfare Fund help with living costs mygov.scot
- ⁷⁴ Scottish Welfare Fund, Self-Isolation Support Grant and Discretionary Housing Payments: monthly data gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- 75 Supporting documents Scottish Welfare Fund review: final report gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- ⁷⁶ Life On Low Pay 2022 | Living Wage Foundation
- 77 Microsoft Word EYS Scotland Factsheet 2022-23 FINAL (trusselltrust.org)
- ⁷⁸ Cost of living: Food price inflation House of Lords Library (parliament.uk)
- 79 ORTF-Summary-Report.pdf (nourishscotland.org)
- 80 Child food insecurity doubles fueling calls for urgent expansion of Free School Meals | Food Foundation
- 81 New Report: Local responses to household food insecurity across the UK during the COVID-19 pandemic | SPERI | The University of Sheffield
- ⁸² How COVID-19 crisis measures reveal the conflation between poverty and adversity | Scottish Affairs (euppublishing.com)
- 83 Energy Bills Support Scheme: Government policy and FAQs House of Commons Library (parliament.uk)
- ⁸⁴ Gas and electricity prices under the Energy Price Guarantee and beyond House of Commons Library (parliament.uk)
- 85 Characteristics of adults experiencing energy and food insecurity in Great Britain Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
- ⁸⁶ The impact of winter pressures on different population groups in Great Britain Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
- ⁸⁷ Tackling Child Poverty Delivery Plan: Progress Report 2022-23. Annex A: Measurement Framework gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- 88 Research into the lived experience of fuel poverty in Scotland (www.gov.scot)
- 89 Poverty and the cost of living | JRF
- 90 Evidence Review: The lived experience of fuel poverty in Scotland (www.gov.scot)
- ⁹¹ Energy Price Guarantee (prepayment meters); regional rates, July to September 2023 GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- 92 Tackling child poverty priority families overview gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- 93 Robbing Peter to pay Paul: Low income and the debt trap (azureedge.net)
 94 Mortrage lending statistics. March 2023 LECA. 50
- Mortgage lending statistics March 2023 | FCA
 Cost of Living Bill Key Statistics.

⁹⁶ 2nd proposed extension of the Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) (Scotland) Act 2022; Statement of Reasons (www.gov.scot) 97 Cost of living: rent and eviction - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) 98 5. Consultation with stakeholders - Cost of Living (Tenant Protection) (Scotland) Act 2022: first report to the Scottish Parliament - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) ⁹⁹ The Scottish Government's planned rent freeze – background – SPICe Spotlight | Solas air SPICe (spicespotlight.scot) 100 Briefing: Tackling child poverty (audit-scotland.gov.uk) ¹⁰¹ Quarterly Report – Q1 2023 102 The National Minimum Wage in 2023 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 103 What is it? | Living Wage Foundation ¹⁰⁴ Annual survey of hours and earnings: 2022 - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) ¹⁰⁵ For the real cost of living | Living Wage Foundation 106 Low and high pay in the UK - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) ¹⁰⁷ Promoting-job-progression-in-low-pay-sectors.pdf (wcpp.org.uk) 108 UKInsecureWorkIndex.pdf (lancaster.ac.uk) 109 Low-Pay-Britain-2022.pdf (resolutionfoundation.org) 110 Labour Force Survey (LFS), Jan-Mar datasets (not seasonally adjusted), ONS, published 16 May 2023. 111 How Does Precarious Employment Affect Mental Health? A Scoping Review and Thematic Synthesis of Qualitative Evidence from Western Economies - Annie Irvine, Nikolas Rose, 2022 (sagepub.com) ¹¹² Supporting documents - Tackling child poverty delivery plan 2022-2026 - annex 6: what works - evidence review - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) 113 freeing low-income single parents from in-work povertys grip.pdf (locarla.com) 114 Maternity cost of living survey - Maternity Action ¹¹⁵ Funded early learning and childcare - mygov.scot ¹¹⁶ Cost of living insights - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 117 Scottish Household Survey 2021 - telephone survey: key findings - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) ¹¹⁸ Connecting Scotland: phase 2 evaluation - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) https://www.rurallives.co.uk/uploads/1/2/7/3/127324359/453540_rural_poverty_report_2021_8.3.2021_optimi sed.pdf ¹²⁰ Communications Affordability Tracker - Ofcom ¹²¹ Tackling Digital Exclusion in the Cost of Living Crisis (digitalpovertyalliance.org) ¹²² Benefits Uprating 2022/23 - House of Commons Library (parliament.uk) ¹²³ Increase in social security benefits - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) Benefits uprating 2023/24 - House of Commons Library (parliament.uk) lovesting in social security - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
Living-Standards-Outlook-2023.pdf (resolutionfoundation.org) 127 The Cost of a child in Scotland in 2022 - update | CPAG 128 Welcoming increased benefit cap mitigation | CPAG The cost of living crisis: a pre-Budget briefing | Institute for Fiscal Studies (ifs.org.uk) 130 Welfare reform: annual report 2019 - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) 131 Universal Credit: What you'll get - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 132 Universal credit and lone parents under 25 | CPAG 133 casepaper224.pdf (Ise.ac.uk) ¹³⁴ Qualitative research with low income families carried out on behalf of Scottish Government by JRS in ¹³⁵ Helping families with their living costs - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) ¹³⁶ Help-today-squeeze-tomorrow.pdf (resolutionfoundation.org) 137 Child Poverty in Scotland: priority groups – larger families (healthscotland.scot) ¹³⁸ Not heating, eating or meeting bills: managing a cost of living crisis on a low income | JRF ¹³⁹ New data show 4 million children in households affected by food insecurity | Food Foundation ¹⁴⁰ Family Resources Survey: financial year 2021 to 2022 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) ¹⁴¹ Family Resources Survey: financial year 2019 to 2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 142 State-of-Hunger-2021-Report-Final.pdf (trusselltrust.org) ¹⁴³ Families and the labour market, UK - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) ¹⁴⁴ Tackling child poverty: second <u>year progress report - annex C - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)</u> 145 International mechanisms to revalue women's work: research - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) ¹⁴⁶ Blog: Cost of living – high inflation and increased poverty for lone parents and single elderly - The York Policy Engine, University of York Rising energy bills to 'devastate' poorest families | 9RF ¹⁴⁸ Child Poverty in Scotland: priority groups - Ione-parent families (publichealthscotland.scot)

149 Families in crisis - a vital lifeline 2022 NboBXAS.pdf (actionforchildren.org.uk)

```
<sup>150</sup> 633d8007a3bfa49bd4cd0fa8 Runnymede Briefing Cost of Living FINAL.pdf (website-files.com)
<sup>151</sup> Additional child poverty analysis 2023 - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
<sup>152</sup> Employment by occupation - GOV.UK Ethnicity facts and figures (ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk)
153 UK Poverty 2023: The essential guide to understanding poverty in the UK | JRF
154 Social Security Experience Panels - ethnic minorities: report - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
155 The experience of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities with HMRC services
(revenuebenefits.org.uk)
<sup>156</sup> Race in the workplace: The McGregor-Smith review (publishing.service.gov.uk)
157 RSPH | RSPH's new report shows health will be the price we will pay for the cost-of-living crisis
<sup>158</sup> Cost of living: Impact of rising costs on disabled people - House of Lords Library (parliament.uk)
159 Disability Price Tag 2023: the extra cost of disability | Disability charity Scope UK
<sup>160</sup> Cost of living (euansguide.com)
<sup>161</sup> report-on-key-findings-from-the-cost-of-living-survey-.pdf (mariecurie.org.uk)
How is the cost of living crisis affecting disabled people in the UK? - Economics Observatory
Disability and employment, UK - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
<sup>164</sup> Understanding unpaid carers and their access to support - The Health Foundation
<sup>165</sup> Costly-differences.pdf (resolutionfoundation.org)
<sup>166</sup> Tackling child poverty - third year progress report : annex B - child poverty in families with a disabled
adult or child - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
167 £150 Disability Cost of Living Payments begin this month - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
<sup>168</sup> Cost of living: the impact for disabled people | Disability charity Scope UK
<sup>169</sup> Is-<u>cost-of-living-support-enough.pdf (jpit.uk)</u>
<sup>170</sup> Food for thought • Resolution Foundation
<sup>171</sup> Food Prices Tracker: May 2023 | Food Foundation
172 Carer's Allowance Supplement - mygov.scot
<sup>173</sup> Child Winter Heating Assistance - mygov.scot
174 Tackling child poverty delivery plan: fourth year progress report 2021-2022 - focus report on households
with babies under one - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
<sup>175</sup> cost+of+living+briefing+note_may+2022_forwebsite.pdf (squarespace.com)
<sup>176</sup> New parents 'bear brunt' of inflation as price of nappies soars by 60 per cent, research finds | The
Independent
177 Early learning and childcare expansion - Early education and care - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
Help paying for childcare: Universal Credit and childcare - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
<sup>179</sup> Coping with Gendered Welfare Stigma: Exploring Everyday Accounts of Stigma and Resistance
Strategies among Mothers Who Claim Social Security Benefits | Social Policy and Society | Cambridge Core
180 National Minimum Wage and National Living Wage rates - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
<sup>181</sup> Tackling Child Poverty focus report with mothers aged under 25 (www.gov.scot)
<sup>182</sup> Young people living independently (publishing.service.gov.uk)
Parenting support - The Experiences of Mothers Aged Under 20: Analysis of Growing Up in Scotland
Data - Research Findings - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
<sup>184</sup> Autumn Statement 2022 HTML - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
The Social Security (Additional Payments) Bill 2022-23 - House of Commons Library (parliament.uk)
<sup>186</sup> Cost of Living Payment 2022 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Pensioner Cost of Living Payment 2022 to 2023 management information - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
<sup>188</sup> Spring Budget 2023 (HTML) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
<sup>189</sup> First 2023/24 Cost of Living Payment dates announced - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
<sup>190</sup> Payment window for £150 Disability Cost of Living Payment announced - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
191 CBP-9616.pdf (parliament.uk)
<sup>192</sup> On a low income, but not claiming means-tested benefits | JRF
193 Response to Budget 2023 | JRF
194 Take-up report | Distant Welfare
195 Social_tariffs.pdf (cpag.org.uk)
<sup>196</sup> Were-going-on-a-growth-hunt.pdf (resolutionfoundation.org)
197 <u>www.jrf.org.uk/report/low-income-not-claiming-means-tested-benefits</u>
<sup>198</sup> Guarantee our essentials - The Trussell Trust
<sup>199</sup> Public attitudes towards poverty (jrf.org.uk)
<sup>200</sup> Report-of-the-inquiry-into-stigma-CPG-on-Poverty.pdf (povertyalliance.org)
<sup>201</sup> Rural Lives: Understanding financial hardship and vulnerability in rural areas
<sup>202</sup> Microsoft Word - Cash-<u>first-literature-review.docx (trusselltrust.org)</u>
How we can flush out poverty stigma from our systems and services | JRF Viitanen, T.K., (2005). Cost of childcare and female employment in the UK. Labour, 19, pp.149-170.
```

²⁰⁵ Rapid-Review-of-Evidence-on-the-Impact-of-Childcare-on-Parental-Poverty-FINAL-221211.pdf

(gcu.ac.uk)

Falling faster amidst a cost of living crisis: poverty, inequality and ethnicity in the UK

Child Poverty Delivery Plan: Voices from our communities - The Poverty Alliance

Government plans "completely out of step with public opinion" as clear majority call for benefits to be uprated by inflation | JRF



© Crown copyright 2023



This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit **nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3** or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: **psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk**.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.scot

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at

The Scottish Government St Andrew's House Edinburgh EH1 3DG

ISBN: 978-1-83521-065-9 (web only)

Published by The Scottish Government, June 2023

Produced for The Scottish Government by APS Group Scotland, 21 Tennant Street, Edinburgh EH6 5NA PPDAS1317362 (06/23)

www.gov.scot